Advanced Technologies for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy

Pietro Valdastri,¹ Massimiliano Simi,² and Robert J. Webster III³

¹Science and Technology of Robotics in Medicine Laboratory and ³Medical and Electromechanical Design Laboratory, Department of Mechanical Engineering, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, Tennessee 37235; email: p.valdastri@vanderbilt.edu

²The Biorobotics Institute, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, 56025 Pontedera, Pisa, Italy

Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2012. 14:397-429

First published online as a Review in Advance on May 22, 2012

The Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering is online at bioeng.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071811-150006

Copyright © 2012 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

1523-9829/12/0815-0397\$20.00

Keywords

capsule, magnet, technology, wireless, wireless capsule endoscopy, video capsule endoscopy, flexible endoscopy, colonoscopy, robotic endoscopy, robotic capsules

Abstract

The gastrointestinal tract is home to some of the most deadly human diseases. Exacerbating the problem is the difficulty of accessing it for diagnosis or intervention and the concomitant patient discomfort. Flexible endoscopy has established itself as the method of choice and its diagnostic accuracy is high, but there remain technical limitations in modern scopes, and the procedure is poorly tolerated by patients, leading to low rates of compliance with screening guidelines. Although advancement in clinical endoscope design has been slow in recent years, a critical mass of enabling technologies is now paving the way for the next generation of gastrointestinal endoscopes. This review describes current endoscopes and provides an overview of innovative flexible scopes and wireless capsules that can enable painless endoscopy and/or enhanced diagnostic and therapeutic capabilities. We provide a perspective on the potential of these new technologies to address the limitations of current endoscopes in mass cancer screening and other contexts and thus to save many lives.

Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	398
1.1. Gastrointestinal Tract Anatomy, Pathologies, Diagnoses, and Therapies	399
1.2. Current Clinical Techniques for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy	400
2. ADVANCED FLEXIBLE ENDOSCOPES	405
2.1. Toward Mechanisms Enabling Painless Flexible Colonoscopy	405
2.2. Image-Enhanced Endoscopy	409
3. WIRELESS CAPSULE ENDOSCOPY	411
3.1. Commercially Available Capsule Endoscopes	411
3.2. Advanced Sensing Methods	414
3.3. Actuation for Capsule Locomotion and Therapy Delivery	416
3.4. Advancement in Powering	422
4. CONCLUSIONS	422

1. INTRODUCTION

Each reader of this review is likely to know someone who has experienced a disease or disorder of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. Diagnosing and treating these maladies is challenging for many reasons, but a history of technological innovation has continually improved the ability of physicians to help their patients. The earliest flexible endoscope, completely based on optical fibers, was presented at the American Gastroscopy Society annual meeting in May 1957 by Basil I. Hirschowitz (1) and described in a 1954 *Nature* paper by Hopkins & Kapany (2). Since these beginnings, endoscope technology has continually improved. Driven by breakthroughs in electronics, materials science, computation, sensing, and actuation, many novel GI devices, diagnostic techniques, and treatments have recently emerged. The purpose of this review is to discuss these new approaches and devices, beginning with the current clinical standards of care.

However, we first consider an example illustrating the pervasiveness of GI tract disease and the drawbacks of current treatments, which have inspired some of the technological innovations described below. Cancer occurs with high incidence in the large intestine and is life threatening, striking more than 140,000 in the United States each year and killing approximately 50,000, according to the American Cancer Society (http://www.cancer.org). A distinguishing feature of this cancer is that it is one of the few that can nearly always be prevented because it typically starts with a small, benign growth named a polyp. If the polyp is identified in its early asymptomatic stage, it can be removed, precluding the onset of cancer and resulting in a 5-year survival rate of almost 90%, compared with 5% when identified later (3). However, detecting and removing polyps is currently accomplished by inserting an endoscope into the colon, which is an unpleasant procedure. Because of this, only 62.9% of Americans comply with screening guidelines, meaning that an estimated 22 million in the United States alone are foregoing recommended screenings (4).

This information naturally leads to the question: How many lives could be saved if a technique more "patient-friendly" than colonoscopy were to be developed? Just as a screening process well tolerated by patients has resulted in the plummeting of cervical cancer–related deaths in the past generation [the Pap smear has reduced cervical cancer–related deaths by approximately 74% since its introduction in 1941, according to CervicalCancer.org (http://www.cervicalcancer.org)], a more agreeable procedure for routine colon cancer screening may save many lives, simply by encouraging people to comply with screening guidelines. There have been efforts to create such

an alternative screening test for GI cancer, including digital rectal examination, sigmoidoscopy, barium enema, and fecal occult blood testing, but the effectiveness of these continues to lag endoscopy dramatically (e.g., 33% false-negative rate for fecal occult blood testing; 5% false-negative rate for colonoscopy). Thus, a secondary purpose of this review is to provide an updated collection of results and perspectives that we hope will assist future researchers who take on the crucial public health challenges of developing better screening procedures for GI cancer and other diseases and disorders of the GI tract.

In this review, we first discuss anatomy and provide examples of various pathologies of the GI tract, and then present the state of the art in flexible endoscopy for diagnosis and treatment of GI diseases. Next, we introduce a set of advanced technologies for flexible endoscopy that are either already available or close to clinical trials and have the potential to reduce patient discomfort and increase diagnostic yield. Finally, we address wireless capsule endoscopy as a potential solution for mass screening of GI diseases, discussing potential research paths that may eventually make this novel approach practical for clinical use as a replacement for standard endoscopy.

1.1. Gastrointestinal Tract Anatomy, Pathologies, Diagnoses, and Therapies

The GI tract presents many challenges for diagnosis and therapy delivery owing to its length (9 m) and varying diameters. Responsible for the digestion and absorption of food and the removal of solid waste from the body, it consists of the mouth, pharynx, esophagus, stomach, small intestine, and large intestine (5). Most of the GI tract (i.e., from the esophagus to the large intestine) is a collapsed muscular tube, which stretches (i.e., distends) when liquid or food passes through it.

Proceeding downward from the mouth and pharynx, we reach the esophagus, a hollow muscular tube approximately 25–30 cm in length and 2–3 cm in diameter. Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) is the most common esophageal pathology [affecting 20% of the US population (6)], in which stomach acids irritate the esophageal wall and cause painful heartburn. In severe cases, a gastroscopy is conducted to detect any complications including a hiatus hernia, Barrett's esophagus, or cancer. The latter two are typically confirmed by histological analysis and thus require biopsy sampling.

At the base of the esophagus is the stomach, a 25-cm-wide collapsed saclike chamber able to expand its volume from 0.1 liter to 4 liter to accommodate food or liquids. The internal wall of the stomach is coated with mucus for protection, as strong peristaltic contractions mix the food with gastric acid and digestive enzymes, fostering mechanical and chemical digestion (5). Among the most common stomach diseases are peptic ulcers, crater-like lesions in the mucous membrane that expose the stomach wall to the caustic contents inside the stomach. Patients suspected of having ulcers typically undergo an upper GI endoscopy to identify the ulcer and rule out gastric malignancy [which occurs in 2.7% of gastric ulcers (7)].

At the base of the stomach is the small intestine, a 6-m-long tube with a diameter of approximately 3 cm. Smooth muscular contractions mix nutrients with digestive juices secreted here and slowly propel material along (5). Among the common small intestine disorders is the condition in which mucosal cells fail to produce specific enzymes, resulting in the inability to digest certain foods (e.g., lactose intolerance). Celiac disease is a chronic disorder in which the mucosa of the small intestine is damaged by gluten, resulting in the inability to absorb nutrients. Biopsy continues to serve as the gold standard for diagnosis of this and similar diseases. However, given the invasive nature and cost of a biopsy, antibody tests are often used to identify individuals with a high probability of having celiac disease (8).

Material exits the small intestine into the large intestine, a 1.5-m-long muscular tube with four sections: the cecum, colon, rectum, and anal canal. The large intestine decreases in diameter

gradually from the cecum (7 cm) to the sigmoid (2.5 cm) and terminates in the rectum (13 cm) and the anal canal (4 cm). The large intestine's major function is the absorption of water, and it also houses a variety of bacteria that play an important part in digestion (9). Diverticular disease (in which mini-hernias occur in the intestine wall) occurs in 50% of people over the age of 60. Some cases result in bleeding, ulceration, and infection and require urgent therapy with antibiotics and/or surgery (10). Other disorders of the large intestine include chronic inflammation, which increases the risk of colorectal carcinoma, ileal disease, ulcerative colitis, and Crohn's disease (1).

1.2. Current Clinical Techniques for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy

Now that the main anatomical and pathological features of the GI tract have been highlighted, we briefly describe standard techniques for GI endoscopy. We pay particular attention to the limitations that have inspired the innovative devices discussed in Sections 2 and 3.

1.2.1. Bowel preparation and patient sedation. Bowel preparation is required to remove the contents of the GI tract, enabling visual endoscopic inspection. Usually, preparation involves a clear liquid diet (no alcohol and beverages containing red or purple dye) and the ingestion of a laxative solution (e.g., polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution) on the day before the procedure (6). Although certainly not pleasant, this process effectively rinses the colon. Upper GI endoscopy does not require this form of preparation because material passes quickly through the stomach and duodenum (11).

Although many GI endoscopic procedures can be performed without sedation (12), sedation with pain relievers and sympathetic patient management can improve patient tolerance and acceptance, increasing technical success rates. Standard monitoring of sedated patients undergoing GI endoscopic procedures includes recording the heart rate, blood pressure, respiratory rate, and oxygen saturation to avoid risk of cardiac or respiratory problems, which account for more than 50% of all reported complications (12). It is also worth mentioning that a major cost component of GI endoscopy relates to sedation administration (13).

1.2.2. Standard endoscopic procedures and different types of flexible endoscopes. The endoscopes used for the examination and treatment of the GI tract consist of three main parts: the control handle, the insertion tube, and the connector. The control section, held and moved by endoscopist's left hand, has the following features:

- Two control dials that deflect and also lock the instrument tip in place;
- Separate buttons for suction, air or water insufflation, and image capture; and
- An entry port for the working channel.

The insertion tube, controlled by the endoscopist's right hand, is a flexible shaft with at least one embedded working channel, suction and air/water channels, and control wires for tip deflection. The tip of the insertion tube of a typical endoscope contains a digital imager [either a charge-coupled device (CCD) or a complementary metal-oxide semiconductor (CMOS) sensor] for color image generation (standard resolution of 400,000 pixels), a light guide illumination system, an opening for the air/water channel, and a water jet to clear the lens. Finally, the connector section attaches the endoscope to the endoscopy tower, which commonly contains an image processor, a 100–300-W white-light source with electrical power supply, air or CO_2 source, and water (14). Because endoscopes must be cleaned and sterilized between patients, they are designed to be completely waterproof and resistant to chemicals. **Figure 1** shows a standard flexible endoscope and a set of flexible instruments that are discussed in Section 1.2.3.



Figure 1

A typical flexible endoscope and examples of flexible tools: (a) a standard flexible endoscope, (b) an endoscopy tower, (c) the control handle, (d) the steerable tip, (e) a double balloon enteroscope, (f) a biopsy needle, (g) biopsy forceps, (b) a cytology brush, (i) a rat-tooth grasping forceps, (j) an alligator grasping forceps, (k) a net, (l) a tripod grasper, (m) an expandable balloon, (n) a metal stent, and (e) a hot snare.

In upper GI endoscopy, an overtube is usually inserted by the application of gentle pressure to overcome the sphincters that separate each part of the GI tract. After this intubation, flexible endoscopes can be easily inserted for examination of upper GI organs (esophagus, stomach, and duodenum) in approximately 20–30 min (1). Gastroscopes have variable insertion tube lengths (925–1.1 m), insertion tube diameters (4.9–12.8 mm), and channel sizes (2.0–3.8 mm). Ultrathin insertion tubes for unsedated peroral or transnasal esophagoscopy (5–6 mm in diameter) are available with tip deflection of one or two degrees of freedom (DoF). These devices may also have small instrument channels (1.5–2 mm) but have inferior diagnostic capabilities in comparison with standard endoscopes (15). Duodenoscopes are side-viewing endoscopes available in standard and therapeutic versions with long insertion tubes (approximately 1.25 m) and variable diameters (7.5–12.1 mm) and channel sizes (2–4.8 mm).

Enteroscopy, endoscopic examination of small intestine, is usually performed with an oral or nasal approach to resolve problems of obscure GI bleeding. Enteroscopes are forward-viewing endoscopes with a working length ranging from 1.52 m to 2.2 m, a channel diameter of 2.2 mm to 3.8 mm, and an insertion tube diameter of 9.2 mm to 11.6 mm (14). One of two main procedures can be used to complete the examination: (*a*) a standard push technique with manipulation of the abdomen wall by an assistant or changes in patient position (alternating lateral and supine positions) or (*b*) a Sonde technique that requires a specialized scope with an inflatable balloon, which anchors the instrument in place during shortening maneuvers while facilitating insertion by exploiting GI peristalsis (1). (The balloon can be single or double; single-balloon enteroscopy and double-balloon enteroscopy yield similar results.)

Lower GI endoscopy can be used to view the entire large bowel in most patients. Bowel insufflation by air or CO_2 facilitates insertion and withdrawal of the scope and distends tissue folds so that the entire surface can be examined (1). A colonoscope is a forward-viewing endoscope inserted through the anus. It is available in pediatric and adult models with different insertion tube lengths



Figure 2

Endoscope flexibility problem in colonoscopy. (*a*) Desired situation: A colonoscope follows the curves of the colon. (*b*) In practice: The tip pushes against the colon and stretches it until the colon and its surroundings provide sufficient resistance to force the colonoscope to bend. (*c*) Pain-inducing bowel looping: Pictured is a typical loop shape (an N-loop) that can occur during colonoscopy. Because of the sharp bend at the tip, the flexible endoscope cannot advance. Adapted from Reference 21 with permission from IEEE.

(1.33–1.7 m), diameters (11.1–15 mm), channel sizes (2.8–4.2 mm), and channel numbers (1 or 2). The distal portion of the tube is flexible to allow the endoscopist to negotiate curves in the colon, whereas the shaft is stiff to enable pushing and reduce looping of the bowel (see **Figure 2** for a definition of looping). The sigmoidoscope—a relatively short, forward-viewing flexible or rigid endoscope designed only for examination of the distal colon and rectum—has variable insertion tube lengths (700–790 mm), insertion tube diameters (11.3–12.8 mm), and channel sizes (3.2–4.2 mm) (14).

1.2.3. Endoscopic instruments and procedures. Many flexible devices can be used with endoscopes to perform diagnostic or therapeutic tasks. These are introduced through the working channel(s) in the endoscope and are manually operated by an assistant endoscopist. We do not attempt to comprehensively catalog the available tools here; instead, we focus on the most widely used examples to explain the basic expectations an endoscopist will have of new endoscopic devices, in terms of tissue interaction.

During a GI examination, the endoscopist will routinely wish to acquire a tissue sample from visible lesions or areas of mucosa that differ from their surroundings. Biopsy forceps are widely used for this purpose in GI endoscopy (16). Alternative options consist of aspiration needles, cytology brushes, or balloons (17).

Furthermore, a variety of instruments are designed to remove polyps. A cold snare can be used to remove small polyps (<6 mm), whereas a hot monopolar snare can be used to cauterize the base of a polyp to prevent bleeding. Endoloops are used to constrict large polyp stalks prior to polypectomy or to treat esophageal varices. Nets or grasping forceps (e.g., alligator, shark and rat tooth, tripod, W-shaped) can be used to remove polyps but are more often used to remove various foreign objects from the GI tract (1). When inoperable or recurrent GI malignancies obstruct a portion of the GI tract, expanding metal stents can be inserted to reopen the intestine as a palliative approach. It is also possible to use pneumatic balloons to open simpler bowel and esophageal strictures (1).

1.2.4. Limitations of standard gastrointestinal endoscopy. Complications associated with endoscopy are related mainly to sedation and analgesia, with cardiorespiratory problems being the

most common [0.03% to 20% incidence (18)]. Bleeding can also occur (0.2% to 2.1% incidence), as well as occasional perforation [0.1% incidence (14)], which is a serious complication requiring emergency open surgery to correct. Bleeding and perforations are usually caused by large forces applied to the GI wall [>54 N in the colon (19)]. Lastly, another possible complication is infection [0.2% incidence (20)].

Given the efficacy of GI endoscopy and its fairly low complication rates, the main clinical challenge is one of distribution, which is limited by indignity, pain, and fear of sedation side effects (13). In upper GI endoscopy, pain is not a major problem because the esophagus is almost straight, so sedation is typically not required. In colonoscopy, however, the curves that the scope must traverse require that a colonoscope be both stiff enough to avoid buckling and compliant enough to follow the colon. In practice, this means that the scope deforms the colon wall at corners (21), causing pain. Looping (see **Figure 2**) has been shown to be responsible for 90% of the pain episodes in colonoscopy and increases the chance of tissue damage and perforation (22). Some special maneuvers can be applied to minimize this effect, but these make colonoscopy a difficult procedure to learn and master (23). Despite these techniques, even expert endoscopists cannot always prevent all difficulties because the endoscope cannot be simultaneously perfectly stiff and perfectly flexible (21).

Other limitations of current practice include the fact that biopsy samples must be processed off-line rather than intraoperatively. If the biopsy is positive, the pathology must then be treated during a second endoscopic procedure in which the same spot must be located again, if possible.

1.2.5. Virtual colonoscopy as an (imperfect) alternative. The most direct approach to reduce the invasiveness of flexible endoscopy is to eliminate the instrument. This can be achieved with virtual endoscopy, a technique based on using a computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan to inspect the GI tract (24). The colon is visualized using segmentation and surface or volume rendering to identify polyps and diverticula, among other maladies. Meticulous bowel cleaning is still required, as is heavy insufflation, but anesthesia is not required. The procedure takes 15 min, with 19 to 25 min for radiological interpretation (24).

Inadequate colonic inflation or excess fluid or stool retained within the colon leads to falsepositive diagnoses, but recent advances in imaging and software analysis (including fecal tagging and fluid subtraction) have enhanced the clarity of the images (25). Unfortunately, traditional colonoscopy is still required to biopsy or remove any lesion/polyp found. A study of 1,233 asymptomatic adults who used experienced radiologists, stool and fluid tagging, and three-dimensional (3D) imaging reported a sensitivity (proportion of positive cases correctly identified) and specificity (proportion of negative cases correctly identified) of 93.8% and 96%, respectively, for polyps at least 10 mm in diameter, and 88.7% and 79.6% for polyps at least 6 mm in diameter (26). Results indicate that virtual colonoscopy is diagnostically comparable with traditional colonoscopy only for large, nonflat polyps greater than 10 mm in diameter (24).

The main strengths of virtual endoscopy are its noninvasive nature, its ability to clearly illustrate the spatial locations of objects, and its ability to enable visualization of the entire colon, even in the presence of stenotic lesions. Drawbacks include the following: Colon preparation is still required; there is a risk of perforation due to overinsufflation; radiation exposure is an issue, in the case of computed tomography; some flat or sessile lesions (which account for approximately 30% of all lesions) cannot be shown; and it is impossible to deliver in situ therapy or sample tissue (24). Owing to these limitations, despite initial predictions a number of years ago, virtual endoscopy has not yet replaced GI flexible endoscopy (27). It does not seem likely to do so in the foreseeable future, given that the US Preventive Services Task Force (28) and most insurance companies have not endorsed it for screening average-risk individuals.

1.2.6. Replacement criteria for alternative technologies. The fact that virtual colonoscopy has yet to replace traditional colonoscopy—despite its initial promise—inspires an analysis of the requirements for new technology to replace flexible endoscopy. Shifts in surgical and endoscopic techniques may be driven either by the physician who operates the device or by the patient who receives diagnosis and treatment from it. An example of patient-driven paradigm change is laparoscopy, in which the reduced invasiveness compensated for the increased procedural complexity for the physician. In contrast, an example of operator-driven change is the adoption of the endoscope along with the innovations that have led to its ability to maneuver, collect tissue samples, and provide high-quality visualization. Patients were not demanding these capabilities, but physicians observed that they would be able to deliver better care to their patients if they had them.

With these examples in mind, it is possible to identify general design guidelines for new GI technologies that could replace flexible endoscopy. Such considerations can be subdivided into three categories: absolute requirements, requirements for the foreseeable future, and advantageous qualities that may not be strictly required. In the absolute requirements category, we can identify three items:

- High diagnostic accuracy. As correctly underscored in Reference 21, a new device must provide diagnostic capability at least equal to that of current flexible endoscopes if the former is to fully replace the latter.
- Low complication rates. It is doubtful that any device that increases the risk of intestine
 perforation or other major complications (even slightly) would replace endoscopy.
- Economic viability. If financial costs of a new technology are not comparable with or lower than those of endoscopy, it is unlikely that the technology will be accepted. This is due to the high demand for endoscopic procedures, which will continue to grow because of aging world populations and public health campaigns encouraging screening compliance. Because endoscope costs can be amortized over many procedures, any single-use replacement technology faces significant cost challenges.

Beyond the above three absolute requirements are several other elements that will be required for the foreseeable future (i.e., unless dramatic and unforeseen technological breakthroughs are made). These elements would be required of any new technology that seeks to displace endoscopy in the short to medium time horizon:

- Visualization. Until automatic diagnostic methods improve dramatically in terms of both differentiation of various kinds of disease and accuracy in diagnosing all types of pathologies, any new technology seeking to replace flexible endoscopy must provide a user-controllable, clear, color view of the mucosa.
- Tissue interaction. In lieu of dramatic leaps forward in image-based diagnosis, tissue samples will have to be collected for diagnostic purposes. Also in lieu of breakthrough treatments that can be administered either systemically (e.g., novel drugs) or from outside the body (e.g., high-intensity focused ultrasound, which can be targeted toward the surgical site much more accurately than is currently possible), the use of endoscopes will be necessary to access the surgical site to deliver therapy.

Lastly, a novel technology seeking to replace flexible endoscopy will probably need to have several other qualities. Although not strictly required, these qualities would be advantageous to speed adoption of the technology:

 No bowel preparation requirement. A technology with no bowel preparation requirement would likely be rapidly adopted owing to pressure from patients. Although this is not a requirement for a new technology to displace flexible endoscopy, it would be a significant advantage.

- Elimination of pain/discomfort. A significant reduction in invasiveness, pain, and/or discomfort for the patient can be expected to result in patient-driven adoption and to finally enable mass screening. Furthermore, preventing the need for sedation would decrease the cost of a single colonoscopy.
- Short learning curve. The easier the device is to learn to use, the more physicians will want to use it. However, as with the adoption of laparoscopic surgery, extremely compelling advantages in the level of invasiveness or the extent of diagnostic or therapeutic efficacy can outweigh some increase in complexity of use.
- Scalability. Scalability is desirable to enable the same instrument to be adapted to the different regions of the GI tract and/or to different sizes of people (e.g., pediatric populations).

2. ADVANCED FLEXIBLE ENDOSCOPES

2.1. Toward Mechanisms Enabling Painless Flexible Colonoscopy

Several colonoscope modifications (**Figure 3**) have recently been presented to prevent application of excessive force on the colon wall and to prevent looping. These devices can be categorized into two groups: those designed for visual inspection, and those that contain internal channels for interventional tools.

2.1.1. Diagnostic-only advanced flexible endoscopes. An example device in the category of diagnostic flexible endoscopes is the CathCam, whose technology has been supported/sponsored by Ethicon Endo Surgery, Inc. The CathCam is a nonsterile, disposable, multilumen catheter with a working length of 1.8 m and a diameter of 11 mm. Vision and illumination are provided by a 3-mm camera with six light-emitting diodes (LEDs). The catheter is designed for single use, whereas the camera is reusable and is mounted into the catheter tip prior to the procedure. The channels of the CathCam accommodate the cables of the video camera and provide suction, irrigation, visualization, instrument delivery, and guide-wire delivery (the guide wire is used to insert the device). This device has demonstrated a 30%–40% peak force reduction in bench-top experiments and in live pigs, compared with standard colonoscopes (29).

Another advanced diagnostic flexible endoscope is the Aer-O-ScopeTM (GI View Ltd., Ramat Gan, Israel), which is a pneumatic, skill-independent, self-propelling, and self-navigating disposable colonoscope (30). The device is composed of a rectal introducer, a supply cable, and an endoscope embedded within a scanning balloon that serves as its vehicle. The rectal introducer is a hollow silicone tube (1.7 m in length, 19 mm in diameter) with a silicone balloon (80 mm in diameter) attached to its outer surface. The introducer is inserted into the rectum with its outer balloon, and the endoscope and its vehicle balloon are passed through the hollow tube of the introducer. The silicone balloon on the introducer seals the anus to prevent gas leakage. CO_2 is insufflated between the two inflated balloons, and gas pressure advances the vehicle balloon, the endoscope, and a trailing supply cable. The supply cable on the endoscope/scanning balloon is a flexible polyurethane multilumen catheter, 5.5 mm in diameter, that is coated with a hydrophilic material, which supplies the electro-optical capsule (the scope) and its vehicle balloon with electricity, air, water, and suction. The Aer-O-Scope is intended to be used for screening and diagnostic purposes and therefore does not have a working channel for accessories.

Yet another approach is inchworm locomotion, inspired by observations of geometer moths (31). Inchworm locomotion is used in the Endotics[®] System (Era Endoscopy s.r.l., Pisa, Italy).

Diagnostic-only advanced exible endoscopes



Therapeutic colonoscopes with

alternative propulsion mechanisms

Figure 3

(*a*) The CathCam system. Reprinted from Reference 29 with permission from Elsevier. (*b*) The Aer-O-ScopeTM system. Reprinted from Reference 30 with permission from Elsevier. (*c*) The Endotics[®] System (32). Image courtesy of Era Endoscopy. (*d*) The NeoGuideTM system. Reprinted from Reference 22 with permission from Macmillan. (*e*) The InvendoscopeTM system. Reprinted from Reference 33 with permission from Elsevier. (*f*) The ColonoSightTM system. Reprinted from Reference 35 with permission from Elsevier. (*g*) The MAC system (36). (*b*) The Endo-EaseTM overtube over a pediatric colonoscope. Reprinted from Reference 37 with permission from Elsevier.

The disposable robotic probe has a head, a steerable tip, a flexible body (17 mm in diameter), a thin tail (7.5 mm in diameter), and a control box with an electropneumatic connector. The head hosts both a vision system (including a camera and LED light source) and channels for water jet and air to provide rinsing and suction/insufflation, respectively. The operator can steer the head of the robotic colonoscope 180° in every direction; elongate the body of the probe to move it forward along the intestine; and control rinsing, insufflation, and suction. A semiautomatic sequence of actions is implemented to move the probe like an inchworm, whereby two vacuum anchors located in the proximal and distal ends of the device are sequentially actuated between extensions and retractions of the central body. A human study (32) with 71 unsedated patients demonstrated that this system has a diagnostic accuracy comparable with that of colonoscopy and does not require sedation. However, in 13 cases (18%), the device was not able to reach the cecum, and procedure duration was longer than standard colonoscopy.

Concerning the replacement criteria listed in Section 1.2.6, it is evident that the lack of tissue interaction makes it impossible for diagnostic-only devices to completely replace traditional colonoscopes. Only prospective comparative outcome trials will be able to determine conclusively whether a first test with a diagnostic-only device followed by conventional colonoscopy will be preferable to performing conventional colonoscopy initially. Currently, 15% to 25% of patients with polyps subsequently have to undergo a conventional colonoscopy for polypectomy (33).

2.1.2. Therapeutic colonoscopes with alternative propulsion mechanisms. A first subset of advanced therapeutic colonoscopes consists of shape-retention devices, which are essentially tubes that are initially flexible and can be stiffened when desired. Several examples of devices utilizing this principle are described in Reference 21, but only the NeoGuideTM from NeoGuide Systems Inc. (a company based in San Jose, California, that was acquired in 2009 by Intuitive Surgical of Sunnyvale, California) has reached clinical trials. It consists of a 173-cm-long endoscope composed of 16 8-cm-long independent vertebrae, and it tapers from 20-mm diameter at the base to 14 mm at the tip, with a 3.2-mm working channel. Each segment can assume a circular shape in a desired direction, much as a conventional colonoscope tip can. As the human operator pushes the device into the colon, its shape changes under computer control, so that the shaft follows the trajectory of the tip in a follow-the-leader manner, minimizing colon wall interaction forces. Biopsies and therapies are conducted with the scope in passive mode, in which the shape and stiffness of the scope are the same as those of a standard colonoscope. An initial clinical trial on 10 sedated patients revealed a looping rate of 40%, with "extensive" looping in three of the four cases, but the entire intestine up to the cecum was reached in all patients (22).

Another computer-aided colonoscope is the InvendoscopeTM (Invendo Medical GmbH, Kissing, Germany), which is 210 cm long and consists of an internal endoscope surrounded by several layers, beginning with a 10-mm-diameter sheath. The sheath is covered by double layers of an inverted sleeve that provides the propulsion mechanism. Eight drive wheels in the driving unit grip the inner layer of the inverted sleeve and rotate, causing the inner layer to move forward and making the colonoscope elongate at a position 10 cm below its tip. The overall objective of this mechanism (similar to that of the NeoGuide) is to minimize scope-colon interaction forces and hopefully remove the sedation requirement. The Invendoscope has a 3.2-mm working channel, allowing biopsy specimens to be taken and therapeutic procedures to be carried out, and is disposable. A first clinical pilot study on 34 healthy volunteers demonstrated that the Invendoscope was able to reach the cecum without any sedation in 82% of cases (33). This result was confirmed by a prospective single-arm study on 61 healthy volunteers undergoing screening colonoscopy, with a cecal intubation rate of 98.4% and fewer than 5% of patients requiring sedation (34).

Another disposable, self-propelling device is the ColonoSightTM, based on IntraPull and ProtectiScope technologies by Stryker, Inc. This colonoscope has three working channels: a 3.7-mm-wide channel for suction and insertion of accessory tools, a channel for irrigation, and a channel for insufflation. A disposable sleeve anchored at the proximal end of the device envelopes the endoscope, protecting it from contamination. The IntraPull mechanism generates a force close to the tip of the scope by pumping compressed air inside the sleeve as a foot pedal is pushed. The material of the sleeve does not allow radial expansion, so the increased pressure inside the sleeve creates a force directed toward the tip of the colonoscope; the tip is pushed forward as the folded part of the sleeve is deployed. The maximum force generated is 4.9 N (0.5 kgf), versus a push force of up to 44 N (4.5 kgf) for a conventional scope. Pilot prospective clinical studies on 178 participants reported a success rate of 90% in reaching the cecum with no major complications (e.g., bleeding or perforation). All the patients were sedated as is routinely done in traditional colonoscopy, so no data about the pain associated with this technique are available (35).

With the exception of the Endotics System, control of tip deflection in all of the above (and in traditional endoscopes) is accomplished by wires running through the length of the device. That no thinner devices have been reported indicates that these wires (combined with optics and working channels) appear to impose a lower bound of approximately 10 mm on colonoscope outer diameter. However, as noted by Tumino et al. (32), pulling rather than pushing the endoscope might enable a dramatic reduction of shaft diameter. In a study by Valdastri et al. (36), magnetic steering and control were applied to an endoscopic device containing a tip-mounted magnetic camera (diameter 11 mm, length 26 mm) connected to an external control box by a 5.4-mmdiameter multilumen soft tether. This connection was used for insufflation, passage of a flexible tool, activation of a lens-cleaning mechanism, and operation of the vision module. The external magnet was held by a 7-DoF robotic arm controlled in real time by the endoscopist. A magnetic field sensor was also embedded in the device head to enable localization and closed-loop control. This method of generating a magnetic pull force at the tip allows the tether to be as small and light as possible and means that it does not have to push against the colon wall; consequently, bending stiffness and mass can be significantly reduced without a reduction in diagnostic or therapeutic capabilities in comparison with a standard colonoscope. The device has been tested in animal trials with promising results, and human trials are planned.

One final noteworthy locomotion mechanism is designed for cecal intubation (rather than painless endoscopy) in cases in which standard colonoscopy has failed. The Endo-EaseTM from Spirus Medical Inc. (Stoughton, Massachusetts) (37) consists of a 90-cm disposable flexible plastic overtube with a 5-mm soft spiral thread at its tip. The overtube is designed with a 13-mm inner diameter to carry a variable-stiffness pediatric colonoscope. Clockwise rotation of the overtube, which mimics the motion of a corkscrew, pleats the bowel onto the external surface of the tube. A preliminary clinical trial on 22 patients with incomplete colonoscopy because of redundant colons reported a cecal intubation rate of 92% with a median time of 14.2 min and no complications.

2.1.3. Summary and perspectives on painless flexible endoscopes. A common theme in reducing the pain associated with standard colonoscopy appears to be shifting the location of propulsive force application from the base of the device outside the patient (i.e., pushing) to the tip of the colonoscope (i.e., pulling). The latter can result in a better alignment of the direction of the applied force with the desired direction of forward tip motion. Several devices have demonstrated that this method can reduce forces applied to the colon wall during insertion, and these reduced forces are believed to correlate with reduced pain and a reduced risk of colon perforation. Diverse methods for applying tip forces have been proposed, ranging from pneumatic pressure (30, 34, 35) to robotic locomotion (32) to magnetic fields (36). Although it remains to be seen which of

these technologies will achieve market penetration and widespread clinical use first, replacing the stiff instrument body with a thin tether (32, 36) appears advantageous.

An alternative approach toward reduction of looping involves showing the current 3D shape of the scope as the endoscopist advances it into the colon. ScopeGuide[®] CF-H180DL, a commercially available endoscopic system from Olympus (Tokyo), integrates magnetic tracking into a standard colonoscope and provides a real-time rendering of the scope shape in free space on a secondary display. A recent study comparing this platform with standard colonoscopy reported a significantly shorter time for the instrument to reach the cecum and significantly lower pain intensity during the examination (38).

With regard to shortening the learning curve, computer-aided or computer-guided techniques (22, 30, 32, 34, 36, 38) have the potential to make colonoscopy easier; nursing staff may even be able to conduct the examinations. Such ease of use would enable the technology to meet the increasing demand for the procedure that will likely result from (*a*) the growing older population and (*b*) the willingness of more of the population to undergo screening owing to a reduction in real or perceived pain and discomfort.

A significant common disadvantage of both conventional and novel colonoscopes is the need for bowel preparation. An innovative device addressing this is ClearPathTM from EasyGlide, Ltd. (Kfar Truman, Israel) (39), which consists of a control cabinet and a disposable unit. The control cabinet includes a peristaltic pump, a controller, and a pinch valve that enables control of suction. The disposable element consists of a multilumen, custom-made, extruded tube. This has two channels, one that supplies water for irrigation and one that provides suction, and a head that attaches firmly to the tip of the colonoscope. When attached, ClearPath adds approximately 6 mm to the diameter of the colonoscope. Water for irrigation flows through four 0.6-mm nozzles in the distal head, and debris are evacuated through a single 18-mm² cross-sectional aperture. Preliminary animal trials on partially prepared pigs demonstrated effective intraprocedural colon cleaning with no immediate mucosal damage, acute complications (e.g., perforation), or delayed adverse consequences.

An alternative approach for cleaning the colon during colonoscopy is proposed by Fritscher-Ravens et al. (40). It consists of a disposable soft-tipped catheter with a water jet spray that can be advanced, under direct vision, through the accessory channel of the scope into the fecal matter. This way, when water is pumped through, even impacted stool can be broken up into slurry. The catheter tip has four radial nozzles through which the water is pumped. The water and the broken-up stool are then flushed or suctioned out of the colon into a collection system. Trials on unprepared colons of anesthetized pigs demonstrated the effectiveness of this approach, although mucosal trauma, bleeding, perforation, clogging of the colonoscope channels, and electrolyte imbalance may limit its impact.

2.2. Image-Enhanced Endoscopy

As mentioned in Section 1.2, standard GI endoscopy is based on visible white-light image acquisition. However, this approach can fail to reveal important information (41). Studies have shown that even experienced endoscopists can miss up to 6% of advanced adenomas and up to 30% of all adenomas when using standard white-light colonoscopy (42). Other disorders, including Barrett's esophagus and dysplastic and early neoplastic changes that occur in specialized intestinal metaplasia, may not be readily identifiable using standard endoscopy. In addition, biopsy specimens obtained using standard endoscopy are prone to sampling error. Furthermore, because of patchy involvement of the mucosa in inflammatory bowel disease, pathology may be missed by standard white-light endoscopy even with the procurement of multiple random biopsy specimens. There is clearly a need for newer endoscopic imaging techniques that easily differentiate normal from abnormal mucosa to guide biopsy collection, and, in some cases, perhaps even to eliminate the need to obtain biopsy specimens. The following subsections review several emerging enhanced imaging techniques, and the interested reader is also directed to the informative review by Sauk & Itzkowitz (43).

2.2.1. Chromoendoscopy. Chromoendoscopy is based on the application of various dye solutions to the mucosa of the GI tract, which enhance subtle mucosal changes that are difficult to perceive in standard endoscopy and which may assist in obtaining targeted biopsy specimens. This procedure is indicated for both lesion detection and lesion characterization, and its demonstrated efficacy has resulted in its incorporation into guidelines for surveillance in patients with long-standing ulcerative colitis (41). However, staining of the entire colonic mucosa remains a time-consuming process and may lead to operator-dependent results. New methods described in the following subsections aim to produce similar results without the need for staining.

2.2.2. Narrow band imaging. Narrow band imaging (NBI) uses filters to narrow projected light to blue (415-nm) and green (540-nm) wavelengths in order to generate a colored image. Blue-green light enhances superficial mucosal capillaries and mucosal surface patterns; greater absorption of illuminating bands by hemoglobin causes the blood vessels to look darker. Because the shape and density of microvessels change in neoplastic lesions, it has been theorized that NBI might improve the assessment of these lesions. From a technological perspective, this technique can easily be implemented with standard video endoscopy through the use of groups of redgreen-blue LEDs (instead of white-light) in conjunction with a CCD and CMOS sensor-both of which are sensitive to a wide spectrum of light. If all LEDs are activated at the same time, they would provide white light. If all LEDs except those of one single color are switched off, the vision sensor can acquire a picture with information similar to that obtained via chromoendoscopy. As with chromoendoscopy, NBI is indicated for both lesion detection and lesion characterization. The results of initial studies on the detectability of colorectal neoplastic lesions using NBI have reported controversial opinions and conclusions; however, a recent meta-analysis of randomized trials comparing NBI and white-light endoscopy in patients undergoing screening or surveillance colonoscopy demonstrated that NBI does not increase the yield of colon polyps, adenomas, or flat adenomas, nor does it decrease the miss rate of colon polyps or adenomas (44).

2.2.3. High-definition gastrointestinal endoscopy. With the increased availability of miniaturized high-definition vision sensors for consumer products and the widespread use of high-definition and 3D endoscopes in laparoscopic surgery, the development of high-definition GI endoscopy was a natural step. High-resolution endoscopes with high-density CCD sensors (600,000–1,000,000 pixels) produce high-magnification images for the detection of microscopic abnormalities in tissue. They provide image enlargement up to 100 times compared with 30 times of standard endoscopes (41). In spite of this, a recent study (45) concluded that the differences between high-definition and standard colonoscopy for the detection of colonic polyps/adenomas was marginal, and that high-definition colonoscopy does not seem to be a game-changing technology. However, as costs are reduced, endoscopists will likely migrate to high-definition technology for the more visually appealing images it provides.

2.2.4. Autofluorescence imaging. With autofluorescence imaging, short wavelengths of light illuminate tissue, and this energy radiation excites endogenous fluorophores to emit light at longer

wavelengths. In the GI tract, autofluorescence imaging detects subtle changes in the concentrations of specific chemicals in tissue that have the ability to fluoresce when activated by specific wavelengths of light. Malignant tissue is associated with emission of relatively longer wavelengths of light (a shift from the green end of the spectrum toward the red). Thin-film optical filters and silicon photodiodes can be used to achieve miniaturized devices for selection and detection of different spectral bands (46). This technique, still in the early stages of development, appears to hold promise for lesion detection, although multicenter trials are still required to confirm its efficacy.

2.2.5. Confocal laser endomicroscopy. Whereas the aforementioned technologies assist in the macroscopic view of the lumen, confocal laser endomicroscopy (CLE) provides histologic views of targeted areas within the mucosa. CLE is available in two forms: eCLE (endoscope-based CLE), in which the measurement system is integrated inside a flexible endoscope (e.g., Pentax Medical Company, Montvale, New Jersey), and pCLE (probe-based CLE), in which the measurement system can be introduced though the operative channel of a standard flexible endoscope (e.g., Mauna Kea Technologies, Paris). The Pentax confocal endomicroscope provides microscopic sections of 475 μ m × 475 μ m, consisting of slices that each have a cross-sectional thickness of 7 μ m and an imaging depth of up to 250 μ m (47). The Mauna Kea probe-based confocal microendoscope has slightly lower resolution but faster image acquisition than the endoscope-mounted version. Whereas several studies (e.g., 43) have demonstrated that a smaller number of optical, rather than traditional, biopsies is required to achieve the same diagnostic result, the difficulty in obtaining good images via this technique, and thus its learning curve, has thus far prevented its wide adoption.

3. WIRELESS CAPSULE ENDOSCOPY

3.1. Commercially Available Capsule Endoscopes

The introduction of wireless capsule endoscopy (WCE) in 2000 (48) was a natural consequence of advances in miniaturization and efficiency of semiconductor technology. WCE entails the ingestion of a miniature pill-sized camera that moves passively through the digestive system and enables visualization of the GI tract without discomforts such as intubation, insufflation, or sedation, thus offering an appealing alternative to traditional flexible scope–based endoscopy. Once the patient has swallowed the capsule, he/she can go back to normal activities without needing to stay confined in a hospital room.

Over the past 10 years, owing to advancements in capsule-related research (publication rates have continuously increased) and widespread clinical use (more than 1 million capsules have been deployed clinically), WCE established itself as the gold standard for diagnosis of suspected diseases of the small intestine. These include obscure GI bleeding, angiodysplasia, Crohn's disease, celiac disease, polyposis, and tumors. Furthermore, whereas wireless capsule endoscopes have been developed for the esophagus and colon, they have not yet become the gold standard for those areas.

A wireless capsule endoscope consists of an external biocompatible shell, typically the size of a large antibiotic pill (11 mm in diameter, 26 mm in length), that contains a vision module, a control and communication unit, and an energy source. The vision module usually consists of an imager with LED-based illumination and an optical lens defining the field of view. A set of antennas is placed on the body of the patient to receive wireless data and, in some cases, to localize the capsule. The image stream is stored on a portable device outside the patient and downloaded by the endoscopist at the end of the procedure. Software is provided to support the doctor in identifying suspicious lesions in the large number of pictures recorded (equivalent to 8 h of video).

Once swallowed, capsules are pushed through the GI tract via peristalsis and move at a rate of 1–2 cm min⁻¹. The time of passage through the entire GI tract is approximately 8–10 h, with approximately 1 h spent in the stomach, 4 h in the small intestine, and 5 h in the colon. The bowel preparation procedure is similar to that for traditional endoscopy, requiring ingestion of a strong laxative to ensure adequate bowel cleanness and facilitate progression of the capsule through the GI tract.

Since Given Imaging (Yokneam, Israel) released PillCamTM Small Bowel (SB) in 2001, several commercial capsules for the small intestine have become available. An example is the company's second-generation capsule, PillCam SB2. It has the same dimensions (26 mm long, 11 mm wide) as does the SB, with a wider angle of view (156° versus 140°) and an enhanced vision system that can produce 2 frames per second (fps) with uniform light exposure. Compared with images acquired by the SB, images from the SB2 have enhanced depth of view, sharpness, and resolution (49). An additional feature introduced in the SB2 is the ability to view images transmitted by the capsule in real time.

Another commercial capsule is the EndoCapsule (Olympus, Tokyo), which uses a highdefinition CCD sensor instead of a CMOS sensor. It has a magnification capacity of 1:8, which enables physicians to identify villous atrophy with a sensitivity of 70%. Eight antennas (combined into one) provide high-quality radio frequency (RF) transmission, and the antenna receiving the strongest signal is used to localize the capsule position in the GI tract. As in PillCam SB2, an external monitor provides real-time image view capability while image-analysis software detects the color red, helping doctors identify bleeding in the small intestine. The diagnostic yield reaches 92.3%, 44.2%, and 12.9% for patients with ongoing-overt bleeding, obscure-occult bleeding, and past bleeding, respectively (50).

The commercial capsule with perhaps the most innovative wireless communication method is the MiRo capsule (IntroMedic, Seoul, Korea), which uses a proprietary electric field propagation technique whereby the human body is used as a conductive medium for data transmission. This method reduces power consumption compared with traditional RF technology, enabling longer battery life (11 h compared with 8–9 h for other capsules) and more images to be transmitted (3 fps versus 2 fps for other capsules). Another advantage of this data transmission method is that image compression is no longer required, enabling visualization of fine structural details of the intestine surface including villi and vasculature (51).

The most recently introduced commercial device is the OMOM capsule (Jinshan Science and Technology Group Co., China), which has been widely tested in China. It has features similar to those of PillCam SB but is slightly larger in size (27.9 mm long, 13 mm in diameter). The main advantages are that it offers an adjustable image format, variable image capture sampling frequency and light intensity, and the option of automatic or manual exposure and white balance control (52).

With respect to diagnostic capabilities in the small intestine, one can compare WCE with the alternative of balloon enteroscopy. WCE demonstrates a higher sensitivity (90.6% versus 65.6%) and diagnostic yield (71.9% versus 65.9%), the latter of which is defined as the likelihood that a test or procedure will provide the information needed to establish a diagnosis (53). The primary advantage of enteroscopy in comparison with WCE is that it is able to collect biopsy samples and deliver treatments.

The main potential complication of WCE is the risk of capsule retention, which is usually caused by an intestinal stenosis. Patients with Crohn's disease or those who use nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs are at higher risk of capsule retention. A capsule designed to address this is Given Imaging's Agile capsule, which is equipped with a small RF tag (2 mm \times 12 mm)

contained within a radio-opaque lactose and barium biodegradable (after 30 h) casing that matches the dimensions of a standard capsule. This device enables the physician to verify adequate capsule passage before introducing the standard, nonbiodegradable capsule in patients with known or suspected strictures (54).

The reach of WCE has also been extended beyond the small intestine to the esophagus and colon. The most recent dedicated esophageal capsule, Given Imaging's PillCam ESO2, was introduced in 2007. It is equipped with two cameras (one at either end) and is capable of acquiring 18 fps for 30 min with a view angle of 169°. The high frame rate and dual-camera approach enable the capsule to cope with fast transit in the esophagus (10 s in a standard patient). This device yielded higher detection rates than esophagogastroduodenoscopy did for suspected Barrett's esophagus, with a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 74% (55). However, WCE has not yet replaced esophagogastroduodenoscopy for the diagnosis and management of Barrett's esophagus in part because histological confirmation is not possible. Also, recent studies provide reason to question whether WCE will be sufficiently cost effective in this application (56).

The most advanced capsule developed specifically for the colon is Given Imaging's PillCam Colon 2. Like the ESO2, it has two cameras and a wide angle of view (172°). To enhance colon coverage, conserve battery energy, and optimize video length, the capsule captures images at an adaptive frame rate, between 4 fps when it is (approximately) stationary and 35 fps while it is in motion. Until small bowel images are detected and the adaptive frame rate mode activated, the capsule works at a low rate of only 14 images per min. A preliminary Europe-wide study (57) enrolling 100 patients obtained a sensitivity of 84% and specificity of 64% in polyps ≥ 6 mm, and a sensitivity of 88% and specificity must rise to well above 90% to be comparable with the sensitivity and specificity traditional colonoscopy. Thus PillCam Colon 2 cannot yet be considered a replacement for screening colonoscopy. A table comparing all the commercial wireless capsule endoscopes discussed in this section is shown in **Figure 4**.

	PillCam SB2	EndoCapsule	MiroCam	омом	PillCam Colon 2	PillCam ESO2
Photo	Pillcam	9-	Mir+Cam	**		Pillcam"
Diameter	11 mm	11 mm	11 mm	13 mm	11.6 mm	11 mm
Length	26 mm	26 mm	24 mm	27.9 mm	31.5 mm	26 mm
Weight	3.4 g	3.8 g	3.4 g	6 g	2.9 g	3.4 g
Frame rate	2 fps	2 fps	3 fps	0.5–2 fps	4–35 fps	18 fps
Image sensor	CMOS	CCD	CCD	CCD	CMOS	CMOS
Field of view	156°	145°	150°	140°	2 × 172°	2 × 169°
Illumination	6 white LEDs	6 white LEDs	6 white LEDs	6 white LEDs	2×6 white LEDs	2×6 white LEDs
Antennas	8	8	9	14	8	8
Real-time view	RT viewer	VE-1 viewer	Microviewer	RT monitoring	No	No
Recording time	8 h	9 h	11 h	7–9 h	10 h	30 min
FDA approval	Yes (2005)	Yes (2007)	No	No	No	Yes (2007)

Figure 4

Comparative table for the commercially available wireless capsule endoscopes. Abbreviations: CCD, charge-coupled device; CMOS, complementary metal-oxide semiconductor; fps, frames per second; LED, light-emitting diode; RT, real-time.

In view of the existing commercially available WCE technologies, one can conclude that the only region of the GI tract where WCE has succeeded in becoming the gold standard is the small intestine. The primary reason for this is that the small intestine is so long and so deep inside the body that flexible endoscopy cannot be accomplished with standard colon or esophageal/stomach scopes. Despite clear patient comfort benefits provided by esophageal and colon capsules, the fact that they are easy for the physician to use, and the fact that they provide reasonable visualization, they have not yet replaced traditional endoscopy because (*a*) their diagnostic accuracy is not yet equivalent to conventional techniques; (*b*) they are currently more costly than traditional endoscopes, which can be reused many times; and (*c*) they are not yet able to interact with tissue to collect biopsy samples or deliver therapy.

In summary, these are the main limitations of the commercially available capsule endoscopes:

- Passive locomotion. It is desirable for the endoscopist to be able to move the camera view arbitrarily as desired rather than relying on peristalsis to drive the capsule. Often the endoscopist wants to obtain multiple view angles and move forward and backward in the vicinity of a suspicious lesion.
- No means of lumen diameter adaptation. The need for swallowability requires the capsule to be small. Although a swallowable size matches the diameter of the small intestine well, it is usually not possible to ensure visualization of the entire surface area when the capsule reaches the stomach or the large intestine. Without a mechanism to create space (i.e., the purpose of the insufflation used in conventional colonoscopy), polyps may remain hidden within the folds of the deflated lumen, resulting in false-negative diagnoses.
- Lack of tissue interaction. Polyp clipping and biopsy collection are key advantages of conventional endoscopy versus WCE.

To address these limitations and endow wireless capsule endoscopes with advanced capabilities, researchers are pursuing numerous novel designs and innovative strategies, which are the subjects of Sections 3.2–3.4.

3.2. Advanced Sensing Methods

Advanced sensing methods for WCE are progressing along three distinct lines of inquiry. One is advanced image-based approaches, which seek to enhance visualization of the GI tract. Another is non-image-based sensing, i.e., the ability to sense physiological parameters. Lastly, the capsule position must be known, so that sensor measurements can be associated with specific GI tract locations.

3.2.1. Image-based sensing and processing. It is challenging for capsule endoscopes to provide the same imaging performance (in terms of, e.g., color resolution, spatial resolution, and frame rate) as a flexible endoscope. Although lateral size and packaging constraints may be comparable, power and data transmission bandwidth currently limit the performance of WCE-based imaging. In flexible endoscopy, wire-based transmission of images can easily reach hundreds of megabits per second (58), and power can be supplied through the scope. For WCE, the power available is determined by onboard battery capacity, and the wireless data transmission rate is on the order of a few megabits per second (59). Therefore, in all capsule endoscopes, image quality must be sacrificed to some extent to satisfy bandwidth constraints and to limit power consumption to a level at which the capsule can continue to function for the duration of its passage through the region of interest.

These considerations affect all components of the video signal chain, from the pill-based camera to the display. Assuming $N \times M$ is the image resolution in pixels and each pixel is P bits, a

single-color image has a payload of $PL = 3 \times N \times M \times P$ bits, where the factor 3 takes into account the red-green-blue pixel triplet. Depending on the desired frame rate *FR*, the required data rate for a single image becomes $DR_{\rm I} = PL \times FR = 3 \times N \times M \times P \times FR$. This data rate must match the available telemetry bandwidth $DR_{\rm T}$. To meet this goal, a compressor can be used to reduce $DR_{\rm I}$ by a factor *CR*. In the end, the equation that must be satisfied reads as follows:

$$DR_{\rm T} = \frac{3 \times N \times M \times P \times FR}{CR}.$$
 (1)

A flexible endoscope usually has a *FR* of 25 fps and a resolution of at least 500 \times 582 pixels. Compression algorithms purposely developed for WCE, thus optimized in terms of power consumption [typically on the order of a few milliwatts (60)], can reach a *CR* ranging from 16 [in the case of colon images, which are richer in small features (61)] to 25 [in the case of gastric images (62)]. Concerning *DR*_T, 20 Mbps are claimed by Lee et al. (63) for a novel telemetry system purposely designed for WCE. As for the imaging chip, off-the-shelf chips optimizing the trade-off between image quality and power consumption are not available. This is mainly because current chips are designed for the consumer electronics market, where power consumption and data rate are not the primary considerations. A possible approach to minimizing the data payload involves lowering the image resolution while widening the dynamic range. A 320 \times 240 10-bit pixel array with a 60-dB dynamic range, consuming less than 40 mW, was presented by Vatteroni et al. (64). The dynamic range can even be increased up to 112 dB through the use of a linear-logarithmic CMOS pixel, as suggested by the same authors in a subsequent study (65).

Taken altogether, these technologies allow clinicians to achieve imaging performances comparable with those offered by a flexible endoscope, even if power consumption and battery lifetime may still be a relevant downside for WCE, as better detailed in Section 3.4. A detailed description of the complete signal chain typical for a wireless capsule endoscope and the required electronic backbone was provided by Cavallotti et al. (66), who demonstrated a real-time 19-fps video capsule.

It is generally agreed that 25 fps, i.e., providing a fluent image stream on the display, is a desirable target for WCE if the physician is to actively control capsule motion (see Section 3.3) in real time. Furthermore, it appears possible to integrate most of the image-enhanced techniques described in Section 2.2 into a WCE platform, despite the fact that examples of doing so have appeared only recently in the literature (67). It may even be possible in the future to provide imaging capabilities in a capsule that exceed those of standard clinical endoscopes by adding, for example, stereoscopy (68), controllable focusing (69), or panoramic viewing capabilities (70).

Lastly, a highly useful adjunct to advancements in imaging technology consists of image analysis and postprocessing. Because a typical small intestine capsule captures approximately 55,000 images per procedure (71), it is useful to provide automatic ways to identify images to which a physician should devote particular attention. Automatic detection of Crohn's disease was reported by Bejakovic et al. (72), whereas the motion-descriptive characteristics were used by Szczypinski et al. (73) to indicate video fragments that exhibit segmentary contractions, peristalsis, and areas of capsule retention. Also, a 3D reconstruction of the colon from capsule images was proposed by Fan et al. (74), whereas an algorithm for lumen detection intended for active locomotion control was proposed by Zabulis et al. (75).

3.2.2. Physiological parameter sensing. Given that the complexity of integrating cameras into capsules far exceeds the complexity of integrating other sensors, it is surprising that there has not been more research activity in this area. The only relevant commercial product available with a sensor other than an imager is the Bravo pH Monitoring System (76) for diagnosing GERD; initially commercialized by Medtronic, Inc., it was recently acquired by Given Imaging. In terms

of research prototypes, the first telemetric capsule to measure intragastric pH dates back to 1965 (77). This device, also known as the Heidelberg capsule (8 mm \times 18 mm), consisted of a discretecomponent Hartley oscillator in which the carrier frequency was modulated by a pH-sensitive capacitor. More recently, an innovative impedance-pH wireless capsule capable of discriminating between acidic and nonacidic reflux in GERD was reported by Gonzalez-Guillaumin et al. (78), whereas wireless pressure monitoring from the gastric cavity was demonstrated by Valdastri et al. (79). An infrared-based capsule to identify and localize GI bleeding was reported by Liu et al. (80). Several systems are able to acquire and manage multiple parameters (81); perhaps the most complex of these is an electronic "tongue" for the characterization of GI fluids (82).

3.2.3. Capsule position sensing. Identifying the physical location of each capsule image is important in both diagnostic and therapeutic applications of WCE. However, it is challenging because the GI tract is a long tubular structure that folds upon itself many times and is free to move within the abdominal cavity. Two kinds of localization are possible: (*a*) obtaining the absolute position of the capsule in space, and (*b*) determining the capsule position relative to the GI tract structure in which the capsule resides.

The first kind of localization (absolute position and possibly orientation in Cartesian space) is the most straightforward from a technical perspective. One method of obtaining it is by RF triangulation, whereby an external sensor array measures signal strength of capsule transmissions at multiple points. This system is implemented in the Given Imaging platforms (83) and can produce an average experimental error of 37.7 mm (84). Another approach is magnetic tracking of a small permanent magnet mounted in the capsule using an external magnetoresistive sensor array. A system based on this approach, known as 3D-MAGMA (Matesy GmbH, Jena, Germany), collects individual measurements at 50 Hz, before filtering and processing, to provide position information with an accuracy of 5 mm and 2° at a rate of 2 Hz (85). Similar results were also obtained with a wearable Hall effect sensor-based system (86). Another possible localization approach involves the use of ultrasonic pulses emitted from outside the body and echoed by the capsule (87). Information about orientation of the capsule can be obtained by placing an inertial sensor on board, as proposed by Ciuti et al. (88).

With respect to the second kind of localization mentioned above (i.e., localization relative to specific GI structures), recent computer vision approaches have been employed. Feature tracking across images, vector quantization, component analysis, and neural networks have been used to classify images as belonging to the upper or lower GI tract with an accuracy of 95% (89). An energy-based event boundary detection algorithm has been used to identify different digestive organs on the basis of their unique patterns of muscular contraction, with an accuracy of 76% (90). An advantage of image-based techniques is that they can provide estimates of capsule position without any additional hardware onboard the capsule, although there is still clearly much work to be done to enhance their accuracy in making specific position measurements.

3.3. Actuation for Capsule Locomotion and Therapy Delivery

A great deal of attention has been paid in the research community to active locomotion of wireless capsule endoscopes, with the motivation of returning active control of camera position to the endoscopist. In Sections 3.3.1–3.3.4, we describe both onboard locomotion techniques (whereby all components enabling locomotion reside within the capsule) and external locomotion techniques (whereby forces and torques are transmitted to the capsule from outside the body, generally via magnetic fields). Also, because the actuation methods for biopsy sampling and therapy delivery share similarities with locomotion actuation, we include these as well.



Figure 5

A prototype of a 12-leg capsule for active locomotion and tissue distension in the colon (98).

3.3.1. Onboard locomotion. Perhaps the simplest mechanism for onboard locomotion is vibratory actuation, obtained by a motor with an asymmetric mass on the rotor, which aids forward progression of the capsule along the GI tract by reducing friction (91). Other mechanisms inspired by biology have also been employed. These include earthworm-like (92), cilia-like (93), and legged (94) locomotion systems actuated by cyclic compression/extension of shape memory alloy (SMA) spring actuators.

Drawbacks of SMA actuation include high power consumption, low efficiency, low speed (due to required heating and cooling cycles), short functional lifetimes, and poor controllability. To address this, alternative actuators were developed. One design uses magnetic attraction/repulsion and consists of a fixed permanent magnet and a linearly movable solenoid (95). A variation on this basic idea uses a motorized rotating magnet coupled with a linearly movable magnet that can provide propulsive force to move a capsule forward owing to directional friction of the polymeric outer shell of the capsule (96). Another approach is to use a miniature direct-current (DC) brushless motor linked to a linear mechanism that is attached to fins moving relative to the capsule body. This "paddling" technique, whereby the leg-like fins travel the length of the capsule, provides high reliability and velocity (8–20 cm min⁻¹) but does not provide bidirectional motion (97).

Fully bidirectional legged locomotion has been developed over the past 10 years at Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna through a series of increasingly sophisticated legged robot prototypes. The latest design (11 mm in diameter and 25 mm long, represented in **Figure 5**) (98) is able to distend tissue in a uniform manner with six points of contact at each end of the capsule (enhancing camera visibility); these points are made by 12 optimized bioinspired legs (99, 100). The capsule has the ability to travel the length of the colon at 5 cm min⁻¹, passing fully through it without insufflation in a length of time comparable with that in traditional colonoscopy. The total pulling force that enabled the capsule to withstand peristalsis and expand the surrounding tissue was 3.6 N.

All the aforementioned locomotion mechanisms were specifically developed for the colon, i.e., a collapsed tubular environment. A similar tubular environment is present in the esophagus, but there the main concern is slowing down the capsule rather than actively propelling it forward. A capsule that incorporates bioinspired gecko-like microfeatures at the ends of three legs has been developed specifically for this district (101). In contrast to the intestine and esophagus, the stomach is a large, collapsed cavity that requires 3D locomotion. This requirement prompted the development of a submarine-like capsule that is ingested by the patient after he/she drinks 1 liter

of water (which stays in the stomach for 30 min). This capsule uses four independent propellers actuated by embedded DC brushed motors, and its speed and direction can be controlled with a joystick. Other possible methods of swimming in the water-filled cavity include flagellar or flap-based swimming mechanisms (102, 103).

As the number of onboard actuators increases, wireless drivers that can receive instructions from the operator and drive the motors accordingly in real time play an important role in capsule design. An example of a flexible platform composed of off-the-shelf electronic components and a real-time operating system was described by Susilo et al. (104). This platform was used to drive some of the robotic capsules discussed in Sections 3.2–3.4 (70, 98, 103, 105–107). A different approach is to develop a specific silicon integrated circuit to drive onboard actuators, as done by Alonso et al. (108), thus optimizing size and power consumption.

Although many innovative mechanisms for onboard capsule locomotion have been reported, there remain numerous challenges in moving them from research laboratories to the clinical setting. Some prototypes have not yet been reduced to swallowable dimensions, and others face power supply challenges due to actuator selection. All will require reliability testing and sterilization procedures to be defined. Although these challenges are significant, all seem to be in principle surmountable, and it is reasonable to expect that capsules with onboard locomotion systems will eventually make their way into clinical use.

3.3.2. External locomotion. An approach that may have a somewhat quicker path to clinical implementation, because it does not require the construction of miniature actuators and mechanisms, is the use of external locomotion strategies. The main external locomotion approach developed thus far is the use of magnetic fields to impart forces and torques to the capsule. The idea is that a large magnetic field is created near (but outside) the patient, either by electromagnet(s) or permanent magnet(s). Then onboard the capsule, a much smaller magnetic field is created. The net result of the interaction between this small field and the large externally created field is that the capsule experiences forces and torques. This approach can remove the need for onboard actuators, mechanisms, and batteries, in favor of a small onboard magnetic field generator, e.g., a permanent magnet. Magnetic actuation has also been developed for other medical devices, ranging from catheters (e.g., the NiobeTM Magnetic Navigation System from Stereotaxis) (109) to microscale robots (110).

Generating the small magnetic field onboard the capsule has been accomplished by three orthogonal internal coils (111), a magnetic shell (112), and simply via permanent magnets (88). Given Imaging has investigated the use of a handheld external magnet to translate and orient a capsule in the upper GI tract using a modified version of PillCam Colon, which was half-filled with magnets. This demonstrated the feasibility of magnetic steering but revealed that more research was required to increase the reliability and accuracy of magnetic control (113). An alternative technique for generating the external magnetic field, jointly developed by Olympus and Siemens, involved use of an MRI scanner to create the field and field gradients (114). An approach that lies somewhere between the simplicity of a handheld magnet and the complexity of an MRI scanner is the use of a 6-DoF industrial robotic arm to hold and manipulate a large permanent magnet outside the patient (88), as represented in **Figure 6a**. This method provides finer control and higher diagnostic reliability than manual operation (115).

The Stereotaxis system has also recently been successfully applied to magnetic capsule steering. In vivo tests performed with 3D fluoroscopic localization showed that it demonstrated an accuracy of 1° in orientation but had limited translational capabilities (112). Furthermore, recent studies show that use of a dedicated levitation system, combined with the use of diamagnetic material



Figure 6

(*a*) The 6-DoF robotic arm described in Reference 115, holding a permanent magnet for controlled locomotion of an endoscopic capsule. (*b*) The hybrid locomotion capsule described in Reference 107. The three legs can span 180° from front to back and vice versa.

(such as bismuth) in the capsule shell, can enhance motion stability and withstand peristaltic force (1.5 N) (116).

A promising new approach for magnetic locomotion in a liquid-filled environment (particularly the stomach) consists of exploiting the vibration of a permanent magnet surrounded by an alternating-current magnetic field. Placing a fin with an embedded magnet at the bottom of a capsule can control the direction and speed of this swimming robot by modifying the alternating current that generates the external magnetic field (117).

The main downside of external locomotion is the lack of ability to distend tissue away from the capsule, in order to enable the capsule to move, or to improve visualization of the entire intestine surface. To address this, a hybrid internal/external system was developed whereby the capsule had internal actuated legs along with simultaneous external magnetic locomotion (107) (**Figure 6b**). Limiting the use of the onboard mechanism to situations in which external locomotion is not effective reduces the power consumed by the capsule, extending battery life.

3.3.3. Biopsy sampling. Collecting biopsy samples is a fundamental procedure in GI diagnosis. Standard biopsy currently requires approximately 1 mm³ of tissue samples to be analyzed within 1–2 h of extraction. This is a challenging requirement for a wireless capsule because of the volume of material required, the need to collect this material from a specific location, and the need to retrieve it from the body rapidly. Attaching a tether to the capsule assists with both biopsy collection and retrieval but also blurs the line between capsule and colonoscope. The Crosby capsule, developed in 1957, was the first tethered device for GI tract biopsy collection. Today, it is used mainly in children owing to its small size. Suction applied to the tube triggers an onboard mechanism that causes a spring-loaded knife to sweep across an aperture in the capsule, cutting away any mucosa protruding into the aperture and collecting the sample in a chamber (118).

The first example of a wireless biopsy capsule consists of a rotational tissue-cutting razor attached to a torsional spring and constrained by a paraffin block. When the paraffin block melts by heating, the razor is released, collecting a tissue sample (119). Another compact solution, designed to be integrated into the MiRo commercial capsule, consists of a microbiopsy spike with protruding barbs, a spring, and a micromechanism actuated by SMA (120). The device is designed to operate sequentially so that the tissue sampling, sealing, and fixing are achieved in one operation. However, it is not yet clear whether such a mechanism will be able to collect a sufficient number or volume of samples for accurate external histological analysis. In all the proposed solutions, system stabilization during sampling remains one of the main problems.

A recent design, presented by Simi et al. (121), takes advantage of magnetic fields both to stabilize the capsule during sampling and to operate the mechanism. Two couples of cylindrical, diametrically magnetized permanent magnets onboard the capsule act as magnetic torsional springs. For each couple, one magnet is integrated into the chassis and cannot move, whereas the other is fixed on a shaft with a razor blade and is free to rotate under the effect of magnetic torque. The coupling between the fixed and rotating magnets forces the blade to close the lateral hole (**Figure 7***a*). When a strong external magnetic field is provided (i.e., when a permanent magnet is placed close to the patient's abdomen), the magnet mounted on the shaft rotates together with the blade, exposing the cavity (**Figure 7***b*). At the same time, the device is stabilized against the mucosa, promoting tissue penetration inside the chamber. When the external magnet is gradually taken away from the capsule, the rotating magnet-blade assembly moves back to its original position, cutting the tissue. Thanks to such an innovative magnetic mechanism, battery and actuators are not required onboard, thus allowing a compact size (9.5 mm in diameter and 17 mm in length; **Figure 7***c*) and potentially extending the reach of this technology to pediatric patients.

3.3.4. Therapy delivery. A main limitation of current capsule endoscopes is that they cannot treat the lesion as they discover it. Treatment delivery requires a subsequent flexible endoscopic procedure. Providing clinical capsules with interventional and therapeutic capabilities has the potential to make WCE a much more powerful weapon with which physicians can combat disease. It is theorized that the ability to deliver drugs directly at the source of the problem (e.g., colitis, Crohn's disease, cancer) will lower dosage levels and thus reduce unwanted side effects (122).



Figure 7

The magnetomechanic biopsy capsule described in Reference 121. (*a*) The coupling of the fixed and rotating magnets forces the razor blade to close the lateral hole. (*b*) An external magnetic field may trigger the complete rotation of the rotating magnets and the razor blade, thus opening the lateral hole. (*c*) A picture of the biopsy capsule prototype.

Modern drug delivery capsules include the InteliSiteTM capsule (Innovative Devices, LLC, Raleigh, North Carolina), which uses SMA wires to align perforated inner and outer sleeves to disperse a drug through the holes (123); the EnterionTM capsule (Phaeton Research and Pharmaceutical Profiles, Nottingham, United Kingdom), which can deliver a treatment agent using a piston/spring actuation system (124); the blind multisensorized iPill capsule (Philips Research); and the MAARS (Magnetic Active Agent Release System; Matesy GmbH, Jena, Germany) capsule, which can be magnetically localized and also disassembled to release a drug contained within it (125). Another device that is actuated magnetically for drug release is a soft capsule for the stomach with an axial extra degree of freedom, which can perform drug injection or biopsy sampling (126). In a study by Pi et al. (127), a combustion process controlled by a microfabricated thruster produces a sufficient amount of gas to force medication out of the drug reservoir. Localized drug delivery was achieved by magnetic retention under biplane fluoroscopy in a study by Laulicht et al. (122), in which a drug-loaded magnetic capsule was held in a specific position of the GI tract. A future prospect for drug delivery over time is the use of mucoadhesives to stably attach the capsule to a desired point in the GI tract without the need for magnetic fields, as suggested by Pensabene et al. (128). This adhesive technology is reversible, and detachment occurs after a certain time that can be trimmed by adjusting the polymer formulation.

In bariatric procedures, a volume-adjustable pill, capable of inflation and deflation of a balloon, can be used as a noninvasive therapeutic device to reduce hunger in obese patients. A wireless system is used to control the gas generated as the product of a chemical endothermic reaction (129).

The only example of a wireless surgical capsule reported in the literature was developed for a controlled release of a surgical clip designed to stop localized bleeding in the colon. This device uses embedded permanent magnets, enabling external locomotion via magnetic fields, and a preloaded SMA clip, which can be fired by the action of a miniature integrated DC brushless motor on the basis of a wireless command (106). The capsule during an in vivo experiment in a porcine model is represented in **Figure 8**.



Figure 8

The surgical clip–releasing capsule during an in vivo experiment on a porcine model. Bleeding was induced on the inner colon wall, and a clip-releasing capsule was manipulated by magnetic fields to face the bleeding with clip jaws. Once the capsule reached the desired position, a clip-releasing command was sent by wireless communication, and the clip was released to stop the bleeding (106).

3.4. Advancement in Powering

Nearly all the aforementioned capsules require power. Actuators, cameras, sensors, and many other subsystems require electrical power. Commercial endoscopic capsules rely on silver-oxide coin cell batteries, which are the only batteries approved for clinical use in WCE. These batteries provide 3 V at 55 mAh for approximately 8 h, which implies an average power delivery of approximately 20 mW. For actuators requiring higher peak currents, lithium-ion polymer batteries are often used in prototypes. They have the highest energy density (approximately 200 Wh kg^{-1}) available in off-the-shelf batteries and are capable of supplying peak currents up to 20 times their nominal current. Often, actuation requirements call for larger batteries than capsule designers would prefer—particularly when robotic mechanisms are used (98). One potential way to improve this situation is to incorporate custom-shaped lithium-ion polymer batteries, which enable the battery to be designed to fill whatever space is available. However, advancements in battery technology are clearly needed. Experimental studies show that the addition of polymeric compounds [poly(ethylene glycol) dimethyl ether and polyethylene oxide] to the electrolytes significantly improves the structure and electrochemical behavior of electrodeposited molybdenum sulfide cathode materials, increasing microbattery capacity by a factor of 2.0–3.5 (130). Thus, there is reason to believe that increasingly powerful batteries will be developed in the near future.

Inductive coupling provides a means of wirelessly transferring power to a remote device and is becoming increasingly common in consumer electronics, as demonstrated by the success of companies such as Witricity Corp. (131). This technique was applied to WCE utilizing three internal coils with a ferromagnetic core, which derive power from a magnetic field established by an external solenoid coil. This solution is capable of providing 400 mW of power in a small size (1 cm³), enabling integration into a wireless capsule endoscope (132). A similar solution was able to achieve 490 mW by keeping the compound vector of the energizing magnetic field orthogonal to the cross section of the power-receiving coil (133). The main advantage of the inductive coupling approach involves providing an unlimited amount of energy to the capsule, whereas the main drawback is the need of external coils that may interfere with patients' movements. Another potential future power source, which promises dramatic improvement in energy density, is the use of chemofluidic phase transition to generate pneumatic pressure from a liquid. This approach has been applied in the context of endoscopic capsules and has the additional advantage that waste gas can be expelled to the environment to provide insufflation (134).

In conclusion, enhanced batteries or alternative sources of power (e.g., inductive coupling or fluid power) are required to enable clinically applicable robotic capsules. A future potential solution to this problem may be to use the same kind of power the human body uses. This might one day be achieved by the integration of muscular tissues or cells fed by glucose and the dissociation of adenosine triphosphate, as suggested by Akiyama et al. (135). As with inductive coupling, this approach would theoretically provide a never-ending supply of energy.

4. CONCLUSIONS

A major objective for bioengineers working in the field of GI technologies is to find a practical method for mass screening of colorectal cancer that will be well tolerated by patients; such a method would dramatically reduce the mortality of the disease by early diagnosis. A new generation of flexible instruments appears poised to meet this challenge, owing to computer-aided painless locomotion techniques and enhanced diagnostic capabilities. An example is WCE, which, despite becoming a gold standard in the small intestine, has yet to achieve similar success in the colon. To become an effective replacement technology for flexible endoscopy, WCE still requires

advancements in several features. Although streaming images and controlled locomotion seem to be achievable with solutions already published in the scientific literature, tissue sampling and therapeutic capabilities have yet to reach maturity. Also, advancements in power are required for effective deployment of the current generation of wireless capsule robots. However, dramatic and unforeseen technological breakthroughs can happen. In particular, a promising alternative approach that may substantially replace traditional GI diagnostic techniques is represented by genetics (136). Genetic testing to help diagnose heritable GI cancer syndromes is already available, but its sensitivity still needs to be significantly improved. However, until such a paradigm-shifting technology becomes available, physicians will require methods to see inside the GI tract and to collect samples and deliver therapies to the correct locations. Advanced flexible scopes and wireless capsules have the potential to improve the way this is done and thus help physicians save lives.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Classen M, Tytgat GNJ, Lightdale CJ. 2002. *Gastroenterological Endoscopy*. Stuttgart, Ger.: George Thieme Verlag
- 2. Hopkins HH, Kapany NS. 1954. A flexible fiberscope, using static scanning. Nature 173:39-41
- Joseph DA, DeGroff AS, Hayes NS, Wong FL, Plescia M. 2011. The colorectal cancer control program: partnering to increase population level screening. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 73(3):429–34
- Cent. Dis. Control Prev. 2011. Colorectal cancer: 1 in 3 adults are not being screened. http://www.cdc.gov/ vitalsigns/CancerScreening/
- 5. Clark RK. 2005. Anatomy and Physiology: Understanding the Human Body. Sudbury, MA: Jones and Bartlett
- Nat. Dig. Dis. Inf. Clgh. 2010. Digestive diseases statistics for the United States. NIH Publ. No. 10–3873. http://digestive.niddk.nih.gov/statistics/statistics.aspx
- Hansson LE, Nyrén O, Hsing AW, Bergström R, Josefsson S, et al. 1996. The risk of stomach cancer in patients with gastric or duodenal ulcer disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 335(4):242–49
- 8. Green PHR, Cellier C. 2007. Celiac disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 357:1731-43
- 9. Keshav S. 2004. The Gastrointestinal System at a Glance. Malden, MA: Blackwell Sci.
- Park JJ, Wolff BG, Tollefson MK, Walsh EE, Larson DR. 2005. Meckel diverticulum: the Mayo Clinic experience with 1476 patients (1950–2002). Ann. Surg. 241:529–33
- Am. Soc. Gastrointest. Endos. 1998. Preparation of patients for gastrointestinal endoscopy. Gastrointest. Endosc. 48:691–94
- Manolaraki M, Stroumpos C, Paspatis G. 2009. Sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopies: Part 1. Ann. Gastroenterol. 22(2):90–96
- Cai SR, Zhang SZ, Zhu HH, Zheng S. 2009. Barriers to colorectal cancer screening: a case-control study. World J. Gastroenterol. 15(20):2531–36
- Varadarajulu S, Banerjee S, Barth BA, Desilets DJ, Kaul V, et al. 2011. GI endoscopes. Gastrointest. Endosc. 74:1–6
- Rodriguez S, Banerjee S, Desilets D, Diehl DL, Farraye FA, et al. 2010. Ultrathin endoscopes. Gastrointest. Endosc. 71:893–98
- Gonzalez S, Yu WM, Smith MS, Slack KN, Rotterdam H, et al. 2010. Randomized comparison of 3 different-sized biopsy forceps for quality of sampling in Barrett's esophagus. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 72:935– 40
- Brouwer R, MacDonald A, Matthews R, Gunn J, Monson JR, Hartley JE. 2009. Brush cytology for the diagnosis of colorectal cancer. *Dis. Colon Rectum* 52:598–601

- Nelson DB, McQuaid KR, Bond JH, Lieberman DA, Weiss DG, Johnston TK. 2002. Procedural success and complications of large-scale screening colonoscopy. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 55(3):307–14
- Appleyard MN, Mosse CA, Mills TN, Bell GD, Castillo FD, Swain CP. 2000. The measures of forces exerted during colonoscopy. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 52:237–40
- Dafnis G, Ekbom A, Pahlman L, Blomqvist P. 2001. Complication of diagnostic and therapeutic colonoscopy within a defined population in Sweden. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 54:302–9
- 21. Loeve A, Breedveld P, Dankelman J. 2010. Scopes too flexible... and too stiff. IEEE Pulse 1(3):26-41
- Eickhoff A, van Dam J, Jakobs R, Kudis V, Hartmann D, et al. 2007. Computer-assisted colonoscopy (the NeoGuide Endoscopy System): results of the first human clinical trial ("PACE study"). Am. J. Gastroenterol. 102(2):261–66
- Lee SH, Chung IK, Kim SJ, Kim JO, Ko BM, et al. 2008. An adequate level of training for technical competence in screening and diagnostic colonoscopy: a prospective multicenter evaluation of the learning curve. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 67(4):683–89
- Farraye FA, Adler DG, Chand B, Conway JD, Diehl DL, et al. 2009. Update on CT colonography. Gastrointest. Endosc. 69(3, Pt. 1):393–98
- O'Hare A, Fenlon H. 2006. Virtual colonoscopy in the detection of colonic polyps and neoplasm. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Gastroenterol. 20:79–92
- Pickhardt PJ, Choi JR, Hwang I, Butler JA, Puckett ML, et al. 2003. Computed tomographic virtual colonoscopy to screen for colorectal neoplasia in asymptomatic adults. N. Engl. J. Med. 349(23):2191–200
- Rockey DC. 2010. Computed tomographic colonography: ready for prime time? *Gastroenterol. Clin. N.* Am. 39(4):901–9
- 28. US Prev. Serv. Task Force. 2008. Screening for colorectal cancer. http://www. uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/uspscolo.htm
- Long G, Fritscher-Ravens A, Mosse CA, Mills T, Swain P. 2006. The Cath-Cam: a new concept in colonoscopy. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 64(6):997–1001
- Vucelic B, Rex D, Pulanic R, Pfefer J, Hrstic I, et al. 2006. The Aer-O-Scope: proof of concept of a pneumatic, skill-independent, self-propelling, self-navigating colonoscope. *Gastroenterology* 130(3):672– 77
- Phee L, Accoto D, Menciassi A, Stefanini C, Carrozza MC, Dario P. 2002. Analysis and development of locomotion devices for the gastrointestinal tract. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 49(6):613–16
- Tumino E, Sacco R, Bertini M, Bertoni M, Parisi G, Capria A. 2010. Endotics system vs. colonoscopy for the detection of polyps. World J. Gastroenterol. 16(43):5452–56
- Rösch T, Adler A, Pohl H, Wettschureck E, Koch M, et al. 2008. A motor-driven single-use colonoscope controlled with a hand-held device: a feasibility study in volunteers. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 67(7):1139–46
- Groth S, Rex DK, Rösch T, Hoepffner N. 2011. High cecal intubation rates with a new computer-assisted colonoscope: a feasibility study. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 106:1075–80
- Shike M, Fireman Z, Eliakim R, Segol O, Sloyer A, et al. 2008. Sightline ColonoSight system for a disposable, power-assisted, non-fiber-optic colonoscopy (with video). *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 68(4):701–10
- Valdastri P, Ciuti G, Verbeni A, Menciassi A, Dario P, et al. 2012. Magnetic air capsule robotic system: proof of concept of a novel approach for painless colonoscopy. Surg. Endosc. 26(5):1238–46
- Schembre DB, Ross AS, Gluck MN, Brandabur JJ, McCormick SE, Lin OS. 2011. Spiral overtubeassisted colonoscopy after incomplete colonoscopy in the redundant colon. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 73(3):515–19
- Szura M, Bucki K, Matyja A, Kulig J. 2012. Evaluation of magnetic scope navigation in screening endoscopic examination of colorectal cancer. *Surg. Endosc.* 26:632–38
- Moshkowitz M, Hirsch Y, Carmel I, Duvdevany T, Fabian I, et al. 2010. A novel device for rapid cleaning of poorly prepared colons. *Endoscopy* 42(10):834–36
- Fritscher-Ravens A, Mosse CA, Mills T, Ikeda K, Swain P. 2006. Colon cleaning during colonoscopy: a new mechanical cleaning device tested in a porcine model. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 63:141–43
- Hasan MK, Wallace MB. 2009. Image-enhanced endoscopy. Clin. Update Am. Soc. Gastrointest. Endosc. 16(4):1–4
- Postic G, Lewin D, Bickerstaff C, Wallace MB. 2002. Colonoscopic miss rates determined by direct comparison of colonoscopy with colon resection specimens. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 97(12):3182–85

- Sauk J, Itzkowitz S. 2011. Optical enhancements in diagnosis and surveillance of colorectal neoplasia. Curr. Colorectal Cancer Rep. 7:24–32
- 44. Pasha SF, Leighton JA, Das A, Harrison ME, Gurudu SR, et al. 2012. Comparison of the yield and miss rate of narrow band imaging and white light endoscopy in patients undergoing screening or surveillance colonoscopy: a meta-analysis. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 107:363–70
- Subramanian V, Mannath J, Hawkey CJ, Ragunath K. 2011. High definition colonoscopy vs. standard video endoscopy for the detection of colonic polyps: a meta-analysis. *Endoscopy* 43:499–505
- Ferreira DDS, Pinto VVC, Correia JJH, Minas GG. 2011. Spectroscopic detection of gastrointestinal dysplasia using optical microsensors. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 58(9):2633–39
- Wallace MB, Kiesslich R. 2010. Advances in endoscopic imaging of colorectal neoplasia. *Gastroenterology* 138(6):2140–50
- 48. Iddan G, Meron G, Glukhovsky A, Swain P. 2000. Wireless capsule endoscopy. Nature 405(6785):417
- 49. Metzger YC, Adler SN, Bar-Gil Shitrit A, Koslowsky B, Bjarnason I. 2009. Comparison of a new PillCamTM SB2 video capsule versus the standard PillCamTM SB for detection of small bowel disease. *Rep. Med. Imaging* 2:7–11
- Gheorghe C, Iacob R, Bancila I. 2007. Olympus capsule endoscopy for small bowel examination. J. Gastrointest. Liver Dis. 16(3):309–13
- Bang S, Park J, Jeong S, Kim Y, Shim HB, et al. 2009. First clinical trial of the "MiRo" capsule endoscope by using a novel transmission technology: electric-field propagation. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 69:253–59
- Liao Z, Gao R, Li F, Xu C, Zhou Y, et al. 2010. Fields of applications, diagnostic yields and findings of OMOM capsule endoscopy in 2400 Chinese patients. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 16(21):2669
- Kameda N, Higuchi K, Shiba M, Machida H, Okazaki H, et al. 2008. A prospective, single-blind trial comparing wireless capsule endoscopy and double-balloon enteroscopy in patients with obscure gastrointestinal bleeding. *J. Gastroenterol.* 43(6):434–40
- Postgate AJ, Burling D, Gupta A, Fitzpatrick A, Fraser C. 2008. Safety, reliability and limitations of the given patency capsule in patients at risk of capsule retention: a 3-year technical review. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 53(10):2732–38
- Heresbach D, Leray E, d'Halluin PN, Cholet F, Lapalus MG, et al. 2010. Diagnostic accuracy of esophageal capsule endoscopy versus conventional upper digestive endoscopy for suspected esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Endoscopy* 42(2):93–97
- Ladas SD, Triantafyllou K, Spada C, Riccioni ME, Rey JF, et al. 2010. European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE): recommendations (2009) on clinical use of video capsule endoscopy to investigate small-bowel, esophageal and colonic diseases. *Endoscopy* 42(3):220–27
- 57. Spada C, Hassan C, Munoz-Navas M, Neuhaus H, Deviere J, et al. 2011. Second-generation colon capsule endoscopy compared with colonoscopy. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 74(3):581–89.e1
- Covi D, Cavallotti C, Vatteroni M, Clementel L, Valdastri P, et al. 2010. Miniaturized digital camera system for disposable endoscopic applications. *Sens. Actuators A* 162(2):291–96
- 59. Thoné J, Radiom S, Turgis D, Carta R, Gielen G, Puers R. 2009. Design of a 2 Mbps FSK near-field transmitter for wireless capsule endoscopy. *Sens. Actuators A* 156(1):43–48
- Lin MC, Dung LR, Weng PK. 2006. An ultra-low-power image compressor for capsule endoscope. Biomed. Eng. Online 5:14
- Pan G, Yan G, Qiu X, Song X. 2010. A novel JPEG-based wireless capsule endoscope. *Biomed. Instrum. Technol.* 44(6):519–22
- 62. Turcza P, Zieliński T, Duplaga M. 2008. Hardware implementation aspects of new low complexity image coding algorithm for wireless capsule endoscopy. *Lect. Notes Comput. Sci.* 5101:476–85
- 63. Lee S, Lee J, Yoon Y, Park S, Cheon C, et al. 2011. A wideband spiral antenna for ingestible capsule endoscope systems: experimental results in a human phantom and a pig. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 58:1734–41
- Vatteroni M, Covi D, Cavallotti C, Clementel L, Valdastri P, et al. 2010. Smart optical CMOS sensor for endoluminal applications. *Sens. Actuators A* 162(2):297–303
- 65. Vatteroni M, Valdastri P, Sartori A, Menciassi A, Dario P. 2011. Linear-logarithmic CMOS pixel with tunable dynamic range. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 58(4):1108–15

- Cavallotti C, Merlino P, Vatteroni M, Valdastri P, Abramo A, et al. 2011. An FPGA-based versatile development system for endoscopic capsule design optimization. Sens. Actuators A 172(1):301–7
- Dung LR, Wu YY. 2010. A wireless narrowband imaging chip for capsule endoscope. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Circuits Syst.* 4(6):462–68
- Kolar A, Pinna A, Romain O, Viateur S, Ea T, et al. 2009. A multishutter time sensor for multispectral imaging in a 3-D reconstruction integrated sensor. *IEEE Sens. J.* 9(4):478–84
- Cavallotti C, Piccigallo M, Susilo E, Valdastri P, Menciassi A, Dario P. 2009. An integrated vision system with autofocus for wireless capsular endoscopy. *Sens. Actuators A* 156:72–78
- Valdastri P, Quaglia C, Buselli E, Arezzo A, Di Lorenzo N, et al. 2010. A magnetic internal mechanism for precise orientation of the camera in wireless endoluminal applications. *Endoscopy* 42(6):481–86
- Zhao Q, Meng MQH. 2011. A strategy to abstract WCE video clips based on LDA. Proc. IEEE Conf. Robot. Autom. (ICRA '11), May 9–13, Shanghai, pp. 4145–50. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Bejakovic S, Kumar R, Dassopoulos T, Mullin G, Hager G. 2009. Analysis of Crohn's disease lesions in capsule endoscopy images. *Proc. IEEE Conf. Robot. Autom. (ICRA '09), May 12–17, Kobe, Jpn.*, pp. 2793–98. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Szczypinski PM, Sriram RD, Sriram PVJ, Reddy DN. 2009. A model of deformable rings for interpretation of wireless capsule endoscopic videos. *Med. Image Anal.* 13(2):312–24
- 74. Fan Y, Meng MQH, Li B. 2010. 3D reconstruction of wireless capsule endoscopy images. Proc. 32nd Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc., Aug. 31–Sept. 4, Buenos Aires, pp. 5149–52. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Zabulis X, Argyros AA, Tsakiris DP. 2008. Lumen detection for capsule endoscopy. Proc. IEEE/RSJ Int. Conf. Intell. Robots Syst., Sept. 22–26, Nice, Fr., pp. 3921–26. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- 76. Kwiatek MA, Pandolfino JE. 2008. The BravoTM pH capsule system. Dig. Liver Dis. 40:156-60
- Steinberg WH, Mina FA, Pick PG, Frey GH. 1965. Heidelberg capsule: I. In vitro evaluation of a new instrument for measuring intragastric pH. J. Pharm. Sci. 54(5):772–76
- Gonzalez-Guillaumin J, Sadowski D, Kaler K, Mintchev M. 2007. Ingestible capsule for impedance and pH monitoring in the esophagus. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 54:2231–36
- Valdastri P, Menciassi A, Arena A, Caccamo C, Dario P. 2004. An implantable telemetry platform system for in vivo monitoring of physiological parameters. *IEEE Trans. Inf. Technol. Biomed.* 8(3):271–78
- Liu H, Wang G, Wei K, Pi XT, Zhu L, et al. 2010. An intelligent electronic capsule system for automated detection of gastrointestinal bleeding. J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. B 11(12):937–43
- Johannessen EA, Wang L, Cui L, Tang TB, Ahmadian M, et al. 2004. Implementation of multichannel sensors for remote biomedical measurements in a microsystems format. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 51(3):525–35
- Twomey K, Alvarez de Eulate E, Marchesi JR, Kolida S, Gibson G, et al. 2011. Characterization of the electrochemical behavior of gastrointestinal fluids using a multielectrode sensor probe. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 58(9):2521–27
- Fischer D, Schreiber R, Levi D, Eliakim R. 2004. Capsule endoscopy: the localization system. *Gastrointest.* Endosc. Clin. N. Am. 14(1):25–31
- Wang X, Meng MQH, Hu C. 2006. A localization method using 3-axis magnetoresistive sensors for tracking of capsule endoscope. *Proc. 28th Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc., Aug. 30–Sept. 3, New York, N.Y.*, pp. 2522–25. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Hocke M, Schöne U, Richert H, Görnert P, Keller J, et al. 2008. Every slow-wave impulse is associated with motor activity of the human stomach. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 296:G709–16
- Wu X, Hou W, Peng C, Zheng X, Fang X, He J. 2008. Wearable magnetic locating and tracking system for MEMS medical capsule. *Sens. Actuators A* 141(2):432–39
- Arshak K, Adepoju F. 2006. Capsule tracking in the GI tract: a novel microcontroller based solution. Proc. 2006 IEEE Sens. Appl. Symp., Feb. 7–9, Houston, Tex., pp. 186–91. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Ciuti G, Valdastri P, Menciassi A, Dario P. 2010. Robotic magnetic steering and locomotion of capsule endoscope for diagnostic and surgical endoluminal procedures. *Robotica* 28(2):199–207
- Bulat J, Duda K, Duplaga M, Fraczek R, Skalski A, et al. 2007. Data processing tasks in wireless GI endoscopy: image-based capsule localization & navigation and video compression. Proc. 29th Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc., Aug. 23–26, Lyon, Fr., pp. 2815–18. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE

- Lee J, Oh J, Shah SK, Yuan X, Tang SJ. 2007. Automatic classification of digestive organs in wireless endoscopy videos. *Proc. ACM Symp. Appl. Comput.*, *Mar. 11–15, Seoul*, pp. 1041–45. New York: Assoc. Comput. Mach.
- Ciuti G, Pateromichelakis N, Sfakiotakis M, Valdastri P, Menciassi A, et al. 2012. A wireless module for vibratory motor control and inertial sensing in capsule endoscopy. *Sens. Actuators A* In press, doi: 10.1016/j.sna.2011.12.024
- Kwon J, Park S, Park J, Kim B. 2007. Evaluation of the critical stroke of an earthworm-like robot for capsule endoscopes. *Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. H* 221:397–405
- Feng Y, Li W, Li M, Sun L. 2007. Structure optimization of the endoscopic robot ciliary leg based on dimensional analysis. *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Robot. Biomim.*, Dec. 15–18, Sanya, China, pp. 109–14. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Gorini S, Quirini M, Menciassi A, Pernorio G, Stefanini C, Dario P. 2006. A novel SMA-based actuator for a legged endoscopic capsule. *Proc. IEEE/RAS-EMBS Int. Conf. Biomed. Robot. Biomechatron.*, *Feb.* 20–22, *Pisa, Italy*, pp. 443–49. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Wang X, Meng MQH. 2006. An inchworm-like locomotion mechanism based on magnetic actuator for active capsule endoscope. Proc. IEEE/RSJ Int. Conf. Intell. Robots Syst., Oct. 9–15, Beijing, pp. 1267–72. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Yim S, Jeona D. 2009. Capsular microrobot using directional friction spiral. Proc. IEEE Conf. Robot. Autom. (ICRA '09), May 12–17, Kobe, Jpn., pp. 4444–49. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- 97. Kim HM, Yang S, Kim J, Park S, Cho JH, et al. 2010. Active locomotion of a paddling-based capsule endoscope in an in vitro and in vivo experiment (with videos). *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 72(2):381–87
- Valdastri P, Webster RJ, Quaglia C, Quirini M, Menciassi A, Dario P. 2009. A new mechanism for mesoscale legged locomotion in compliant tubular environments. *IEEE Trans. Robot.* 25(5):1047– 57
- Buselli E, Valdastri P, Quirini M, Menciassi A, Dario P. 2009. Superelastic leg design optimization for an endoscopic capsule with active locomotion. *Smart Mater. Struct.* 18:1–7
- Buselli E, Pensabene V, Castrataro P, Valdastri P, Menciassi A, Dario P. 2010. Evaluation of friction enhancement through soft polymer micro-patterns in active capsule endoscopy. *Meas. Sci. Technol.* 21:105802
- Glass P, Cheung E, Sitti M. 2008. A legged anchoring mechanism for capsule endoscopes using micropatterned adhesives. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 55(12):2759–67
- Kosa G, Jakab P, Szekely G, Hata N. 2012. MRI driven magnetic microswimmers. *Biomed. Microdevices* 14(1):165–78
- Valdastri P, Sinibaldi E, Caccavaro S, Tortora G, Menciassi A, Dario P. 2011. A novel magnetic actuation system for miniature swimming robots. *IEEE Trans. Robot.* 27(4):769–79
- 104. Susilo E, Valdastri P, Menciassi A, Dario P. 2009. A miniaturized wireless control platform for robotic capsular endoscopy using advanced pseudokernel approach. Sens. Actuators A 156(1):49–58
- 105. Tortora G, Valdastri P, Susilo E, Menciassi A, Dario P, et al. 2009. Propeller-based wireless device for active capsular endoscopy in the gastric district. *Minim. Invasive Ther. Allied Technol.* 18: 280–90
- 106. Valdastri P, Quaglia C, Susilo E, Menciassi A, Dario P, et al. 2008. Wireless therapeutic endoscopic capsule: in vivo experiment. *Endoscopy* 40:979–82
- 107. Simi M, Valdastri P, Quaglia C, Menciassi A, Dario P. 2010. Design, fabrication, and testing of a capsule with hybrid locomotion for gastrointestinal tract exploration. *IEEE/ASME Trans. Mechatron.* 15(2):170– 80
- 108. Alonso O, Freixas L, Canals J, Susilo E, Diegeuez A. 2008. Control electronics integration toward endoscopic capsule robot performing legged locomotion and illumination. Proc. IEEE/RSJ Int. Conf. Intell. Robots Syst., Oct. 18–22, Taipei, pp. 2798–803. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Ramcharitar S, Patterson MS, van Geuns RJ, van Meighem C, Serruys PW. 2008. Technology insight: magnetic navigation in coronary interventions. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Cardiovasc. Med.* 5:148–56
- Nelson BJ, Kaliakatsos IK, Abbott JJ. 2010. Microrobots for minimally invasive medicine. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 12:55–85

- Uehara A, Hoshina K. 2003. Capsule endoscope NORIKA system. *Minim. Invasive Ther. Allied Technol.* 1:227–34
- Carpi F, Kastelein N, Talcott M, Pappone C. 2011. Magnetically controllable gastrointestinal steering of video capsules. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 58(2):231–34
- 113. Keller J, Fibbe C, Volke F, Gerber J, Mosse AC, et al. 2011. Inspection of the human stomach using remote-controlled capsule endoscopy: a feasibility study in healthy volunteers (with videos). *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 73(1):22–28
- 114. Rey JF, Ogata H, Hosoe N, Ohtsuka K, Ogata N, et al. 2012. Blinded nonrandomized comparative study of gastric examination with a magnetically guided capsule endoscope and standard videoendoscope. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 75(2):373–81
- Ciuti G, Donlin R, Valdastri P, Arezzo A, Menciassi A, et al. 2010. Robotic versus manual control in magnetic steering of an endoscopic capsule. *Endoscopy* 42(2):148–52
- Lam M, Mintchev M. 2009. Diamagnetically stabilized levitation control of an intraluminal magnetic capsule. *Physiol. Meas.* 30:763–77
- 117. Morita E, Ohtsuka N, Shindo Y, Nouda S, Kuramoto T, et al. 2010. In vivo trial of a driving system for a self-propelling capsule endoscope using a magnetic field (with video). *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 72(4):836– 40
- 118. Crosby WH, Kugler HW. 1957. Intraluminal biopsy of the small intestine. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 2(5): 236-41
- Kong K, Cha J, Jeon D, Cho DD. 2005. A rotational micro biopsy device for the capsule endoscope. Proc. IEEE/RSJ Int. Conf. Intell. Robots Syst., Aug. 2–6, Edmonton, Can., pp. 1839–43. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Park S, Koo K, Bang SM, Park JY, Song SY, Cho DD. 2008. A novel microactuator for microbiopsy in capsular endoscopes. *J. Micromech. Microeng.* 18:025032
- Simi M, Gerboni G, Menciassi A, Valdastri P. 2012. Magnetic mechanism for wireless capsule biopsy. *J. Med. Devices.* 6(1):017611
- Laulicht B, Gidmark NJ, Tripathi E, Mathiowitz E. 2011. Localization of magnetic pills. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108(6):2252–57
- Clear NJ, Milton A, Humphrey M, Henry BT, Wulff M, et al. 2001. Evaluation of the Intelisite capsule to deliver theophylline and frusemide tablets to the small intestine and colon. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 13:375–84
- Wilding I, Hirst P, Connor A. 2000. Development of a new engineering-based capsule for human drug absorption studies. *Pharm. Sci. Technol. Today* 3:385–92
- 125. Matesy GmbH. 2010. MAARS®—magnetic active agent release system. http://www.matesy.de/ Downloads/MAARS_2010.pdf
- 126. Yim S, Sitti M. 2012. Design and rolling locomotion of a magnetically actuated soft capsule endoscope. IEEE Trans. Robot. 28(1):183–94
- 127. Pi X, Lin Y, Wei K, Liu H, Wang G, et al. 2010. A novel micro-fabricated thruster for drug release in remote controlled capsule. *Sens. Actuators A* 159(2):227–32
- Pensabene V, Valdastri P, Tognarelli S, Menciassi A, Arezzo A, Dario P. 2011. Mucoadhesive film for anchoring assistive surgical instruments in endoscopic surgery: in vivo assessment of deployment and attachment. Surg. Endosc. 25(9):3071–79
- 129. Kencana AP, Rasouli M, Huynh VA, Ting EK, Lai JCY, et al. 2010. An ingestible wireless capsule for treatment of obesity. Proc. 32nd Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc., Aug. 31–Sept. 4, Buenos Aires, pp. 963–66. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Golodnitsky D, Nathan M, Yufit V, Strauss E, Freedman K, et al. 2006. Progress in three-dimensional (3D) Li-ion microbatteries. *Solid State Ionics* 177(26–32):2811–19
- Kurs A, Karalis A, Moffatt R, Joannopoulos JD, Fisher P, Soljačić M. 2007. Wireless power transfer via strongly coupled magnetic resonances. *Science* 317(5834):83–86
- Carta R, Tortora G, Thoné J, Lenaerts B, Valdastri P, et al. 2009. Wireless powering for a self-propelled and steerable endoscopic capsule for stomach inspection. *Biosens. Bioelectron*. 25:845–51
- 133. Li H, Yan G, Gao P. 2010. A method for improving the wireless power transmission efficiency of an endoscopic capsule based on electromagnetic localization and synthesis of magnetic field vector. *Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. C* 224(7):1463–71

- 134. Toennies JL, Ciuti G, Smith BF, Menciassi A, Valdastri P, Webster RJ. 2010. Toward tetherless insuffation of the GI tract. Proc. 32nd Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc., Aug. 31–Sept. 4, Buenos Aires, pp. 1946–49. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE
- Akiyama Y, Iwabuchi K, Furukawa Y, Morishima K. 2008. Culture of insect cells contracting spontaneously; research moving toward an environmentally robust hybrid robotic system. *J. Biotechnol.* 133(2):261–66
- Kaz AM, Brentnall TA. 2006. Genetic testing for colon cancer. Nat. Clin. Pract. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 3(12):670–79

$\mathbf{\hat{R}}$

Annual Review of **Biomedical** Engineering

Contents

Volume 14, 2012

The Effect of Nanoparticle Size, Shape, and Surface Chemistry on Biological Systems <i>Alexandre Albanese, Peter S. Tang, and Warren C.W. Chan</i>
Mucosal Vaccine Design and Delivery Kim A. Woodrow, Kaila M. Bennett, and David D. Lo
Tendon Healing: Repair and RegenerationPramod B. Voleti, Mark R. Buckley, and Louis J. Soslowsky
Rapid Prototyping for Biomedical Engineering: Current Capabilities and Challenges Andrés Díaz Lantada and Pilar Lafont Morgado
Continuum Mixture Models of Biological Growth and Remodeling: Past Successes and Future Opportunities <i>G.A. Ateshian and J.D. Humphrey</i>
Flexible and Stretchable Electronics for Biointegrated DevicesDae-Hyeong Kim, Roozbeh Ghaffari, Nanshu Lu, and John A. Rogers113
Sculpting Organs: Mechanical Regulation of Tissue Development Celeste M. Nelson and Jason P. Gleghorn
Synthetic Biology: An Emerging Engineering DisciplineAllen A. Cheng and Timothy K. Lu155
Nonlinear Dynamics in Cardiology Trine Krogh-Madsen and David J. Christini
Microfluidic Models of Vascular Functions Keith H.K. Wong, Juliana M. Chan, Roger D. Kamm, and Joe Tien
Optical Nanoscopy: From Acquisition to Analysis Travis J. Gould, Samuel T. Hess, and Joerg Bewersdorf 231
Nonthermal Plasma Sterilization of Living and Nonliving Surfaces N. De Geyter and R. Morent

Robots for Use in Autism Research Brian Scassellati, Henny Admoni, and Maja Matarić	275
Regulation of Cell Behavior and Tissue Patterning by Bioelectrical Signals: Challenges and Opportunities for Biomedical Engineering <i>Michael Levin and Claire G. Stevenson</i>	295
Intraoperative Stem Cell Therapy Mónica Beato Coelho, Joaquim M.S. Cabral, and Jeffrey M. Karp	325
Optical Imaging Using Endogenous Contrast to Assess Metabolic State Irene Georgakoudi and Kyle P. Quinn	351
Quantitative Imaging Methods for the Development and Validation of Brain Biomechanics Models <i>Philip V. Bayly, Erik H. Clayton, and Guy M. Genin</i>	369
Advanced Technologies for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Pietro Valdastri, Massimiliano Simi, and Robert J. Webster III	397
Mechanical Regulation of Nuclear Structure and Function Rui P. Martins, John D. Finan, Farshid Guilak, and David A. Lee	431

Indexes

Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 5-14	457
Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 5–14	461

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering* articles may be found at http://bioeng.annualreviews.org/